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TOWN OF BRISTOL, RHODE ISLAND 

 

 

TOWN COUNCIL 

Nathan T. Calouro, Chairman 

Mary A. Parella, Vice Chairwoman 

Antonio A. Teixeira 

Timothy E. Sweeney Council Clerk 

Aaron J. Ley Melissa Cordeiro 
Town Council Meeting 

Wednesday, August 21, 2024 at 6:15 PM 

6:15 pm PUBLIC SERVICE INTERVIEWS/APPOINTMENTS                    

7:00pm REGULAR ORDER OF BUSINESS                                       

Town Hall - Council Chambers                                                       

10 Court Street, Bristol Rhode Island                                                 

*Amended 

 

Note: If communications assistance is needed or any other accommodations to 

ensure equal participation, please contact the Town Clerk’s office at 253-7000. 

Anyone requesting interpretive services for the deaf or hard of hearing must 

notify the Town Clerk’s office at 253-7000, 72 hours in advance of the meeting 

date and anyone requesting assistive listening devices or wishing to speak on 

a matter designated “CA” (consent agenda) or citizens public forum on the 

council docket must notify the Council Clerk prior to the commencement of the 

meeting. 

In-Person Participation Only 

The public may VIEW the meeting live by using the following link 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89776489722, or by visiting zoom.com 

meeting code 897-7648-9722. Please be advised, this link will 

NOT allow for public participation.  

 

Please be advised that the council intends to discuss and/or act 

upon each and every item appearing on this agenda 

Present: 

Meeting Dates: 

September 18, 2024 - Town Council Meeting 

October 9, 2024 - Town Council Meeting 

October 30, 2024 - Town Council Meeting 

November 20, 2024 - Town Council Meeting 

 

 

Public Service Interviews and Appointments 
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 Town Council Meeting August 21, 2024 

 

1.  North & East Burial Grounds Commission (1 term set to expire 

January 2025 and 1 auxiliary position set to expire January 

2028) 

a. Shirley Louise Mancieri, 10 Kathy Court- interest/appointment 

b. Herman Martin, 2 Pagnano Street- interest/appointment 

c. Jennifer R. Ouellette, 4 Evangeline Court- 

interest/appointment 

Motion RE: Consent Agenda -  To Approve the Consent Agenda 

A. Submission of Minutes of Previous Meeting(s) 

A1. Town Council Meeting - July 31, 2024   

A2. Executive Session Meeting - July 31, 2024 (sealed, 

council only) 

B. Public Hearings 

B1. Zack Rivers for RIRO Enterprises Inc. d/b/a Judge Roy 

Bean Saloon, 1 State Street, request for Transfer of 

Class BV Liquor License to Cruz Goler Korcula Culinary 

Consulting, LLC  d/b/a Judge Roy Bean Saloon (new 

ownership) (see agenda item D1) 

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation- Town Administrator and Fire Chief 

c.  ad from the Bristol Phoenix -  August 8, 2024 

C. Ordinances 

C1. Ordinance #2024-14 Chapter 16, Article V Stopping, 

Standing and Parking, Section 16-152 Curb loading 

zones  (add curb loading zone on the west side of 

Thames Street) (Robin Rug Mill Building) (2nd reading) 

C2. Ordinance #2024-15 Chapter 16, Article V Stopping, 

Standing and Parking, Section 16-160 two dedicated 

parking spaces to access The Urban Coastal Greenway 

located off Constitution Street (Robin Rug Mill 

Building) (2nd reading) 
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D. Licensing Board - New Petitions 

D1. Cruz Goler, Korcula Culinary Consulting, LLC d/b/a 

Judge Roy Bean Saloon, 1 State Street- Request for 

Transfer of a Class BV Liquor License (see agenda item 

B1) 

a. recommendation- Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation- Town Administrator and Fire Chief 

c. recommendation- Town Administrator and Director of 

Community Development 

D2. Cruz Goler, Korcula Culinary Consulting, LLC d/b/a 

Judge Roy Bean Saloon, 1 State Street- Request for a 

Victualling License (see agenda item B1, D1, D3 and 

D4) 

a. recommendation- Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation- Town Administrator and Fire Chief 

c. recommendation- Town Administrator and Director of 

Community Development 

d. recommendation- Town Administrator and Water 

Pollution Control 

D3. Cruz Goler, Korcula Culinary Consulting, LLC d/b/a 

Judge Roy Bean Saloon, 1 State Street- Request for a 

Sidewalk Use License and Alcohol Service  (see agenda 

item B1, D1, D2, and D4) 

 

a. recommendation- Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

 

b. recommendation- Town Administrator and Fire Chief 

c. recommendation- Town Administrator and Code 

Compliance 

d. recommendation- Town Administrator and Director of 

Community Development 

e. recommendation- Town Administrator and Director of 

Public Works 
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D4. Cruz Goler, Korcula Culinary Consulting, LLC d/b/a 

Judge Roy Bean Saloon, 1 State Street- Request for a 

Dancing & Entertainment License   (see agenda item B1, 

D1, D2, and D3) 

 

a. recommendation- Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

 

b. recommendation- Town Administrator and Fire Chief 

D5. Courtney Guertin, Mollypalooza, re One-Day Sunday 

Dancing and Entertainment License on Sunday, October 

13, 2024 from 3:00 PM – 9:00 PM at the Cup 

Defenders, 230 Wood Street 

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation - Town Administrator and Fire Chief 

D6. David Fierabend, The Franklin, LLC, 195 Franklin 

Street - request for a Dancing & Entertainment License 

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation- Town Administrator and Fire Chief 

D7. Peter Carvelli, Foglia, 31 State Street - request for 

Dancing and Entertainment License 

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation - Town Administrator and Fire Chief 

E. Licensing Board - Renewals 

E1. Andrew Breslin, The Nest, 29 State Street, Sidewalk 

and Alcohol Use License three-month review (continued 

from May 29, 2024) 

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation - Town Administrator and Fire Chief 

F. Petitions - Other 
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F1. Susan Burke, 15 Lugent Lane re "no parking here to 

corner" on either side of Lugent Lane 

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation- Town Administrator and Director of 

Public Works 

F2. James Paul, 28 First School Street re an Ordinance 

Amendment to designate First School Street as 

residential - No Overnight Parking 

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation - Town Administrator and Director of 

Public Works 

F3. Rosa Elena Escabar Torino, 153 Bradford Street, 

request for accessible parking space in vicinity of 

residence (2nd reading) 

a. (draft) resolution 

F4. Anthony B. Morettini, 46 Highland Road, re adoption of 

Sowam Land Acknowledgement Resolution and for 

establishment of usage guidelines 

a. Elizabeth Struges Llerena - letter of support 

F5. Camron Rancourt, Rhode Races & Events Inc. in 

Partnership with the Bristol 4th of July Committee to 

hold a Half Marathon on Saturday, June 28, 2025 

6:30AM-10:00AM at Independence Park  

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

 

b. recommendation - Town Administrator and Fire Chief  

c. recommendation - Town Administrator and Department 

of Public Works 

d. *recommendation - Town Administrator and Director 

of Parks and Recreation 

5



 Town Council Meeting August 21, 2024 

F6. Stephen T. O'Neill, 70 Ferry Road re adoption of 

Resolution for maintenance of the Middle Passage Port 

Marker at Independence Park 

a. (Draft) Resolution No. 2024-8-21-F6 

F7. Peter L. Accardi, Jr., 16 Tobin Lane re License to 

Maintain Triangular Shaped Parcel at Intersection of 

Sullivan and Tobin Lanes (call for Public Hearing 

September 18, 2024) 

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation - Town Administrator and Fire Chief  

c. recommendation - Town Administrator and Director of 

Community Development 

G. Appointments 

G1. Police Pension Fund Board of Trustees (1 unexpired 

term - Police Union Representative)  

a.  IBPO Local 304 President, Capt. St. Pierre 

recommendation for Sergeant Robert Millard 

G2. Bristol Historic District Commission (1 unexpired term 

set to expire July 2027 and 1 unexpired (auxiliary 

member term set to expire July 2025) 

a. Sara Butler, 39 Byfield Street - letter of 

resignation 

b. Michael J. O'Loughlin, 114 Constitution Street - 

interest in elevation to full member 

G3. Appointment - Town Council Liaison, Bristol 250th 

Commission by Council Chairman 

H. Old Business 

I. Other New Business Requiring Town Council Action 

I1. Administrator Contente re Reynolds School, Bristol 

Warren Regional School District Lease 

CF. Citizens Public Forum 

PERSONS WISHING TO SPEAK DURING THE CITIZENS PUBLIC FORUM 
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MUST NOTIFY THE COUNCIL CLERK PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF 

THE MEETING 

J. Bills & Expenditures 

K. Special Reports 

K1. Bristol County Water Authority Board of Directors, 

update on current projects and initiatives 

K2. Bristol County Water Authority Fiscal Year 2024 

Annual Report, March 1, 2023 – February 29, 2024 

L. Town Solicitor 

M. Executive Sessions 

M1. Town Administrator Contente re Request for Executive  

Session Pursuant to RIGL § 42-46-5(a)(2) -Lifetime 

contracts litigation summary and update 

M2. Director Williamson re request for Executive Session  

pursuant to RIGL Section 42-46-5  (a) (5) regarding 

Lease Extension - A and R Marine 

M3. Town Administrator Contente re request for Executive 

Session Pursuant to RIGL  §42-46-5, (5) Any 

discussions or considerations related to the 

acquisition or lease of real property for public 

purposes.  

Consent Agenda Items: 

(CA) AA. Submission of Minutes - Boards and Commissions 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to receive and 

place these items on file” 

(CA) BB. Budget Adjustments 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to approve 

these adjustments” 

(CA) BB1. Tax Assessor/Collector DiMeo re Recommended 

Abatements & Additions - August 2024 

(CA) CC. Financial Reports 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to receive and 

place these items on file” 
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(CA) DD. Proclamations, Resolutions & Citations 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to adopt these 

Proclamations, Resolutions and Citations as prepared 

and presented” 

(CA) EE. Utility Petitions 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to approve 

these petitions” 

(CA) EE1. Water Pollution Control Facility – Sewer Permits 

(CA) FF. City & Town Resolutions Not Previously Considered 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to receive and 

place these items on file” 

(CA) GG. Distributions/Communications 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to receive and 

place these items on file” 

(CA) GG1. Town Clerk Cordeiro – Thank you letter to Det. Keith 

Martin for serving on the Police Pension Fund Board 

of Trustees 

(CA) GG2. Jeffrey M. Willis, Executive  Director CRMC re 

response to request for Joint Public Notice 

Extension 

(CA) GG3. Council Clerk Cordeiro re Communication on Joint 

Public Notice CRMC/DEM re Thames Street Landing, TSL 

LLC 267 Thames Street 

(CA) GG4. Clerk Cordeiro re Bid 1051 Rejection -Global 

Equipment Company 

(CA) GG5. Administrator Contente to Printelect, Owen Andrews 

re award bid #1051 - Storage Carts for Election 

Equipment 

(CA) GG6. (Signed) Policy Electronic Signature Usage for 

Ceremonial Documents 

(CA) HH. Distributions/Notice of Meetings 

(Office copy only) 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to receive and 

place these items on file” 
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(CA) HH1. Bristol Fourth of July Committee, Wine Tasting 

Subcommittee Meeting - July 29, 2024 

(CA) HH2. Bristol Fourth of July Committee, Ball Subcommittee 

Meeting - August 5, 2024 

(CA) HH3. Planning Board Technical Review Meeting - July 30, 

2024 

(CA) HH4. Bristol Fourth of July Committee Membership Meeting 

- August 8, 2024 

(CA) HH5. Harbor Commission Meeting - August 8, 2024 

(CA) HH6. Bristol Fire Department Board of Engineers Meeting - 

August 5, 2024 

(CA) HH7. Bristol County Water Authority Personnel Committee 

Meeting - August 7, 2024 

(CA) HH8. Zoning Board of Review Meeting - September 3, 2024 

(CA) HH9. Bristol Fourth of July Committee, General Committee 

Meeting - August 20, 2024 

(CA) HH10. RI Government Register Public Notice of Proposed 

Rulemaking CRMC, Management Procedures -End of 

Public Comment September 15, 2024 

(CA) HH11. RI Government Register Public Notice of Proposed 

Rulemaking CRMC, Red Book -End of Public Comment 

September 15, 2024 

(CA) II. Claims (Referrals) 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to refer these 

items to the Insurance Committee and at its 

discretion to the Interlocal Trust” 

(CA) JJ. Miscellaneous Items Requiring Council Approval 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to approve 

these items” 

(CA) KK. Curb cut petitions as approved by the director of 

public works 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to grant these 

curb cuts per the recommendation of, and conditions 

specified by, the Director of Public Works” 
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(CA) KK1. Ledgehill Properties LLC, Frank Sciacca, Esq. 21 

Bradford Street re curb cut  

a. recommendation- Town Administrator and Director 

of Public Works 

Adjourned: ______________________ 

/mc 

Posted: August 16, 2024 
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TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES- WEDNESDAY, JULY 31, 2024 
 

10 COURT STREET, BRISTOL, RI 02809-2208     401-253-7000     FAX 401-253-2647     www.bristolri.gov 

The council met on Wednesday, July 31, 2024, and called to order 

at 7:02 p.m.  in the Town Hall, Council Chambers, Council 

Chairman Calouro presiding: 

At this point in the meeting, Council Chairman Calouro and 

members of the Council expressed their condolences to Vice 

Chairwoman Parella for the recent passing of her mother, Bernice 

Parella.  

Motion RE: Consent Agenda -  To Approve the Consent Agenda 

 

Sweeney/Teixeira– Voted unanimously to 

approve the Consent Agenda as prepared 

and presented. 

 

A. Submission of Minutes of Previous Meeting(s) 

A1. Town Council Meeting - June 26, 2024 

 

Sweeney/Teixeira – Voted unanimously to 

approve these minutes as prepared and 

presented. 

B. Public Hearings 

C. Ordinances 

C1. Ordinance #2024-14 Chapter 16, Article V Stopping, 

Standing and Parking, Section 16-152 Curb loading 

zones  (add curb loading zone on the west side of 

Thames Street) (Robin Rug Mill Building) (1st reading) 

 

Teixeira/Sweeney– Voted unanimously to 

consider this action to constitute the 

first reading of Ordinance #2024-14. 

Advertise in the local newspaper.  

 

C2. Ordinance #2024-15 Section 16-160: Designated parking 

spaces on Constitution Street for access to the Urban 

Coastal Greenway (1st reading) 

 

Teixeira/Sweeney– Voted unanimously to 

consider this action to constitute the 
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first reading of Ordinance #2024-15. 

Advertise in the local newspaper.  

 

D. Licensing Board - New Petitions 

D1. Steven B. Aveson, The Japan American Society of RI, re 

one day Dancing and Entertainment License on Friday, 

August 16, 2024 from 10:00AM-12:00PM and 5:00PM-7:00PM 

for The Black Ships Festival 2024 at Rockwell 

Park (see also D2, D3, D4, F1) 

a.  recommendation- Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b.  recommendation - Town Administrator and Fire Chief 

c.   recommendation- Town Administrator and Director 

of Parks and Recreation 

 

Teixeira/Sweeney- Voted 

unanimously to combine agenda 

items D1, D2, D3, D4 and F1 

Sweeney/Teixeira -Voted 

unanimously to grant this license 

per the recommendations received 

and conditions, if any, as 

delineated, and also subject to 

conformance to all laws and 

ordinances and payment of all 

fees, taxes, and levies 

Prior to the vote being taken, applicant Steven Aveson addressed 

the council. Mr. Averson provided the council with highlights of 

the events to take place and encouraged everyone to attend.  

D2. Steven B. Aveson, The Japan American Society of RI, re 

One Day Dancing & Entertainment License for Saturday, 

August 17, 2024 from 10:00AM - 3:30PM for The Black 

Ship's Festival at Independence Park 

a. recommendation - Town Administration and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation - Town Administration and Fire Chief 
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c. recommendation - Town Administrator and Director of 

Parks and Recreation  

Sweeney/Teixeira-Voted unanimously 

to grant this license per the 

recommendations received and 

conditions, if any, as delineated, 

and also subject to conformance to 

all laws and ordinances and 

payment of all fees, taxes, and 

levies 

It is noted for the record that under agenda item D1, Councilman 

Teixeira motioned to combine agenda items D1, D2, D3, and F1. 

The motion was seconded by Councilman Sweeney and unanimously 

approved. Discussions related to this combined item took place 

under agenda item D1. However, actions related to this item are 

reflected here as found within. 

 

D3. Steven B. Aveson, The Japan American Society of RI, re 

Mobile Food Trucks Permit for August 17, 2024 10:00AM-

3:30PM at Independence Park 

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation - Town Administrator and Fire Chief 

c. recommendation - Town Administrator and Director of 

Parks and Recreation 

d. recommendation- Town Administrator and Director of 

Public Works 

Sweeney/Teixeira - Voted 

unanimously to grant this license 

per the recommendations received 

and conditions, if any, as 

delineated, and also subject to 

conformance to all laws and 

ordinances and payment of all 

fees, taxes, and levies 

It is noted for the record that under agenda item D1, Councilman 

Teixeira motioned to combine agenda items D1, D2, D3, and F1. 

The motion was seconded by Councilman Sweeney and unanimously 

approved. Discussions related to this combined item took place 
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under agenda item D1. However, actions related to this item are 

reflected here as found within. 

 

D4. Steven B. Aveson, The Japan American Society of RI, re 

Mobile Food Trucks Permit, August 16, 2024 4:40PM-

7:30PM at Rockwell Park  

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 
Police 

 

b. recommendation - Town Administrator and Fire 

Chief 

 

c. recommendation - Town Administrator and Director 

of Parks and Recreation 

 

d. recommendation- Town Administrator and Director 

of Public Works 

Sweeney/Teixeira - Voted 

unanimously to grant this license 

per the recommendations received 

and conditions, if any, as 

delineated, and also subject to 

conformance to all laws and 

ordinances and payment of all 

fees, taxes, and levies 

D5. Clements Marketplace, Tracy Anthony, 1150 Hope Street 

request for Holiday Sales License 

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation - Town Administrator and Fire Chief 

c. recommendation - Town Administrator and Director of 

Community Development 

 

Sweeney/Teixeira - Voted 

unanimously to grant this license 

per the recommendations received 

and conditions, if any, as 

delineated, and also subject to 

conformance to all laws and 
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ordinances and payment of all 

fees, taxes, and levies 

 

D6. Allison Barr, 7 Michael Drive, Allison's Pampered Pet 

re modification Dog Kennel License (increase number of 

dogs allowed) 

a. Memo from Clerk Cordeiro re original license 

approval information 

b. recommendation- Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

c. recommendation - Town Administrator and Director of 

Community Development 

d. recommendation- Town Administrator and Director 

of Animal Control 

 

Teixeira/Sweeney -Voted 

unanimously to grant this license 

subject to the following:  

• per the recommendations 

received and conditions, if 

any, as delineated.  

• That the number of dogs be 

increased to no more than 

ten (10) dogs be housed on 

the property at any one 

time.  

• Subject to conformance to 

all laws and ordinances and 

payment of all fees, taxes, 

and levies 

Prior to the vote being taken, Alison Barr residing at 7 Michael 

Drive addressed the Council, informing them that she has been 

operating a residential doggie daycare since 2006. She explained 

that she was requesting to increase the number of dogs allowed 

at her daycare, noting that she was unaware she needed Council 

approval for this increase. She stated that she had a verbal 

conversation with former staff members and was under the 

impression that she had the authority to house more than the 

original five dogs she was approved for. She further explained 
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that she had received her DEM approval and had experienced no 

issues since starting the business 22 years ago. 

Police Chief Lynch confirmed that the police department had not 

received any complaints about the facility. Chairman Calouro 

noted that Ms. Barr had not been in compliance and thanked her 

for her honesty. He expressed his strong concern and the 

importance of compliance, noting that the original approval for 

five dogs was established for a reason, and he respected the 

decision of the Council during the original approval process. He 

emphasized the importance of ensuring compliance to protect 

neighbors in the residential neighborhood from being adversely 

affected by decisions made by the Council or non-compliance of 

the applicant. 

A discussion ensued regarding the increase in the number of dogs 

allowed, and it was recommended that the license be increased to 

allow up to no more than ten (10) dogs. 

D7. Zack Rivers for RIRO Enterprises Inc. d/b/a Judge Roy 

Bean Saloon, 1 State Street, request for Transfer of 

Class BV Liquor License to Cruz Goler for Korcula 

Culinary Consulting, LLC d/b/a Judge Roy Bean Saloon 

(new ownership) (call for public hearing on August 21, 

2024) 

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation - Town Administrator and Fire Chief 

c. recommendation - Town Administrator and Director of 

Community Development 

 

Teixeira/Sweeney- Voted 

unanimously to call for a public 

hearing to consider this matter on 

August 21, 2024 subject to the 

payment of levies; and to 

advertise in the local newspaper. 

E. Licensing Board - Renewals 

E1. Private Investigator License Renewals 2024-2025 

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 
Police 
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Sweeney/Teixeira- Voted unanimously to 

grant renewal of these licenses based 

upon the recommendations received and 

the receipt of all necessary renewal 

paperwork from the licensees and also 

subject to conformance to all laws and 

ordinances and payment of all fees, 

taxes, and levies 

 

F. Petitions - Other 

F1. Steven B. Aveson, The Japan American Society of RI, re 

to fly Japanese Flag during the Black Ship's Festival 

at Independence Park August 16-17, 2024  

a. Memo from Clerk Cordeiro re verification of 
signatures of 25 qualified voters   

 

Sweeney/Teixeira– Voted 

unanimously to approve this 

petition, allowing that a 3 X 5 

foot ‘Japanese Flag’ may be flown 

on a Town flagpole at Independence 

Park from August 16 & 17, 2024, 

with the Town assuming no 

responsibility for the care of 

this flag beyond its raising. 

It is noted for the record that under agenda item D1, Councilman 

Teixeira motioned to combine agenda items D1, D2, D3, and F1. 

The motion was seconded by Councilman Sweeney and unanimously 

approved. Discussions related to this combined item took place 

under agenda item D1. However, actions related to this item are 

reflected here as found within. 

 

F2. Margaret Rodriques, 112 Bradford Street request for an 

accessible parking space in vicinity of residence (2nd 

Reading) 

a. (draft) resolution 

Teixeira/Sweeney- Voted 

unanimously to consider this 

action to be the second reading 
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for the adoption of the resolution 

for an accessible parking 

F3. Virginia Quaresma, 34 Cooke Street request for an 

accessible parking space in vicinity of residence(1st 

Reading) 

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation - Town Administrator and Director of 

Public Works 

c. Wayne Marshall, 33 Cooke Street - letter of concern 

 

Teixeira/Sweeney - Voted unanimously to 

deny the petition based on the 

recommendations received 

Prior to the vote being taken, Police Chief Lynch informed the 

Council that the police department had reviewed the application 

and the request for the accessible parking space on Cooke 

Street. He elaborated that upon review, the officers found that 

the applicant had a driveway that provided ample access to the 

residence. Typically, accessible parking spaces are granted to 

those who do not have reasonable access to their home. 

In this case, it was determined that the applicant was allowing 

her sons to park in her driveway while she would find on-street 

parking. Considering the street was very dense with limited 

parking, it was recommended that the applicant park in the 

driveway and allow others to park on the street to accommodate 

all parties 

F4. Rosa Elena Escabar Torino, 153 Bradford Street, 

request for accessible parking space in vicinity of 

residence (1st Reading)  

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Chief of 

Police 

b. recommendation - Town Administrator and Director of 

Public Works 

Teixera/Parella- Voted unanimously 

to consider this action to 

constitute the first reading of a 

request for an accessible parking 

space and to continue the said 
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matter until August 21, 2024 for 

second reading. 

 

G. Appointments 

 

G1. Police Pension Fund Board of Trustees (life 

term)(police union member)  

a. Keith Martin, 5 Clinton Drive, resignation   

Teixeira/Sweeney – Voted unanimously to 

accept this resignation and to instruct 

the Clerk to send a letter of thanks 

for service. 

Prior to the vote being taken, Clerk Cordiero clarified that the 

now vacant position was held by a member of the police union. 

According to the composition of the board as outlined in the 

ordinance, the body consisted of five members: one being the 

town treasurer, three appointed by the Council, and one a member 

of the police union confirmed by the Council. She explained that 

a request for recommendation was provided to the President of 

the local police union, and the recommendation would be 

presented to the Council at its next meeting. 

It was also noted that the attachment provided in the Council 

packet was of the special constables, and that the correct board 

information, outlining the board composition, would be provided 

to the Council at its next meeting 

G2. North and East Burial Grounds Commission (1 unexpired 

term set to expire January 2025 and 1 unexpired 

Auxiliary Commissioner set to expire January 2028) 

a. Passing of James Riccio, 56 Franklin Street 

b. Herman Martin, 2 Pagnano Street - 

interest/appointment 

c. Jennifer Ouellette, 4 Evangeline Court - 

interest/appointment 

d. Shirley Louise Mancieri, 10 Kathy Court- 

interest/appointment 
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Teixeira/Sweeney– Voted unanimously to 

acknowledge the passing of the board 

member, which has now created a vacancy 

on the board, and instruct the Clerk to 

set a special meeting for interviews to 

be held at the next council meeting of 

August 21, 2024, beginning at 6:15pm.  

Prior to the vote being taken, members of the council expressed 

their condolences for the passing of Mr. Riccio.  

G3. Post Retirement Benefits Fund Board of Trustees (one 

3-year term set to August 2027 and one vacant 

unexpired term set to expire August 2026) 

a. Anthony Rego, 1176 Hope Street - 
interest/reappointment 

Teixeira/Sweeney – Voted unanimously to 

reappoint Anthony Rego to the Post 

Retirement Benefits Fund Board of 

Trustees with a term set to expire in 

August 2027 

 

H. Old Business 

H1. Joint Public Notice CRMC/DEM re Thames Street Landing, 

TSL, LLC, 267 Thames Street (continued from May 29th) 

Public comment extended to August 15, 2024 

a. Recommendation - Bristol Harbor Commission   

b. Alyce Wright, Lila Delman, re letter of concern 

c. Howard Sutton, President Stone Harbour HOA re 

letter of opposition 

d. Documents submitted to the Harbor Commission 

Meeting, July 1, 2024 

e. Mark T. Ryan, Moses Ryan LTD, re letter of concern 

Teixeira/Sweeney- motioned to 

submit to CRMC the concerns and 

recommendations made by the 

Bristol Harbor Commission, along 

with a copy of the Harbor     
Commission meeting minutes and 
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this evening's draft meeting 

minutes, to reflect the various 

concerns addressed by members of 

the council and residents.     
Voting in favor were Calouro, 

Teixeira, Sweeney, Ley. Voting 

Opposed was Vice Chairwoman 

Parella. 

Prior to the vote being taken, Chairman Calouro stated that a 

recommendation had been received from the Harbor Commission and 

proceeded to read their four recommendations as follows:  

 

1. The applicant shall provide a written plan indicating how the pool water will be treated, 

how the waste from any backwashing filtration will be disposed, and confirm that there 

will be no discharge of such filtration system water into Bristol Harbor.  

2. The applicant shall provide a written storm action plan indicating the actions proposed 

for certain time frames (such as when a tropical storm or hurricane watch is secured and 

when a tropical storm or hurricane warning is issued) and identifying the specific 

contractors who will provide trucks to pump out the pool water and identifying the 

specific marine facility that will hull the pool boat out of the water.  

3. The applicant shall provide certification from an engineer that the access to the pool 

boat from the shore will meet ADA requirements. 

4. The CRMC should consider requiring the applicant to install additional barriers which 

might include additional pilings, to prevent any out-of-control vessel from colliding with 

the pool boat and endangering poll users.  

Councilman Teixeira motioned to submit the Harbor Commission 

recommendations to CRMC, seconded by Sweeney for discussion. It 

was clarified that while the recommendation could be submitted 

to CRMC, the approval was under CRMC's jurisdiction. 

Vice Chairwoman Parella noted that the recommendations by the 

Harbor Commission were well thought out. However, she personally 

believed the pool boat would be a public nuisance and the town 

would regret it. She felt there was no need for the pool in that 

congested location and thought the council should oppose the 

application. She clarified that a "no" vote from her would 

reflect her opposition to the pool boat, not disagreement with 

the Harbor Commission's recommendations. 

Councilman Ley Councilman Ley expressed his opposition to the 

application as well. Councilman Teixeira stated that submitting 

the Harbor Commission's recommendations to CRMC did not imply 
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his support for the application, as it fell under CRMC's 

jurisdiction. 

Seth Handy, the applicant's attorney representing TSL, LLC 

Thames Street Landing, summarized the request. Applicant Larry 

Goldstein and engineer Ron Blanchard were also in attendance. 

Attorney Handy explained that the proposed project involved a 

vessel adjacent to the Bristol Harbor Inn, 8 feet wide, 20 feet 

long, and 4 feet deep, for seasonal use only and secured when 

not in use. He noted that the pool boat is allowed by right in 

Bristol Harbor and the zoning district. Attorney Handy 

emphasized the benefits to the town and the alignment with the 

2016 Comprehensive Plan for Economic Development. 

Attorney Handy addressed the recommendations and opposition, 

stating that TSL intended to present a storm action plan and 

pool water filtration plan to CRMC. He argued that ADA 

compliance and additional pilings were not warranted, citing 

CRMC standards for small marinas. He also responded to 

opposition from Stone Harbor, noting that the pool boat did not 

violate town ordinances 8-45 and 8-54 prohibiting swimming in 

navigational areas and blocking public access to water. 

Attorney Handy addressed additional objections and concerns 

raised. He stated that guests at the Bristol Harbor Inn were 

surveyed and strongly indicated that a pool was a missing 

amenity. He noted that guests seeking hotels with pools could 

choose other locations, potentially impacting the local economy. 

In response to suggestions for alternate locations, Attorney 

Handy explained that none were available. The current deck area 

is used for weddings, and the surrounding land is capped due to 

environmental concerns. 

Regarding safety concerns, Attorney Handy reassured that no 

alcohol would be allowed at the pool, and there would be 

security cameras and locks in place. To address noise concerns, 

he stated there would be no diving or audible music, emphasizing 

that noise is regulated by town ordinances, not CRMC. 

On environmental issues, Attorney Handy acknowledged concerns 

about pile driving disturbing the environment. He noted that the 

Department of Environmental Management (DEM) would participate, 

and a permit from the Army Corps of Engineers, which had already 

considered the pile driving, would be submitted to CRMC. CRMC 

would have regulatory jurisdiction over the application. 

He continued to argue that this project falls under CRMC 

jurisdiction and addressed the request made by Stone Harbor for 
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the council to provide a negative recommendation. Attorney Handy 

noted that this request was contrary to the Town Administrator's 

position, which supported the application. He requested council 

consideration to also provide a recommendation for CRMC's 

approval of the proposal. 

Vice Chairwoman Parella asked for the summer occupancy rate and 

average length of stay. Larry Goldstein replied that he did not 

have that information at that time. Vice Chairwoman Parella then 

asked if Mr. Goldstein had been recently seeking to expand the 

hotel due to high demand, suggesting that the argument for 

needing a pool to attract guests seemed inconsistent with the 

expansion plans. She pointed out that there are three local 

beaches near the hotel, offering plenty to do for short-term 

guests, and questioned whether a pool would significantly 

attract more visitors.  

Vice Chairwoman Parella noted that this proposal might set an 

unwelcome precedent in the area.  She expressed uncertainty 

about whether the council has ever provided recommendations to 

CRMC, noting that most CRMC applications involve docks or dock 

extensions, not pool boats.  She emphasized the neighborhood's 

density and potential nuisance issues, asserting that this 

proposal could be problematic regardless of safety protocols and 

doubting its impact on tourism or hotel occupancy. 

Mr. Goldstein responded that the hotel is not always fully 

booked and expressed a desire to fill the gaps. He mentioned 

that families often look for hotels with pools and emphasized 

that the pool boat idea was a creative solution inspired by a 

similar concept in Maine. The aim was to provide an amenity that 

families are seeking without causing a nuisance or headache for 

guests. 

Parella acknowledged that surveys might indicate a desire for 

certain amenities, but based on her experience, a lack of 

specific amenities would not necessarily deter guests from 

revisiting a hotel. She expressed skepticism about the pool's 

potential to significantly impact the hotel's success and 

suggested that the hotel could be better marketed by 

highlighting local family amenities. 

Attorney Handy stated he would follow up with the hotel 

occupancy rate and average length of stay. 

Councilman Ley asked Mr. Goldstein if there would be any 

restroom facilities and how far away they would be, as well as 

the protocol for access. Mr. Goldstein responded that guests 

could use either the guest rooms or the two bathrooms located in 
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the hotel lobby, which are always open until sunset. Councilman 

Ley also inquired about the potential for the pool boat to rust 

and the maintenance protocols, expressing concern over unclear 

photos and the assurance of proper upkeep. Mr. Goldstein 

provided larger, clearer formatted proposals of the pool boat 

and assured the council that the establishment has always 

maintained its facilities with updates and maintenance, and they 

would treat the pool boat the same way, just like the common 

areas and the tent. He emphasized that they were not looking to 

create an eyesore at their hotel and that the boat was modeled 

as a first-class design. 

Councilman Ley then questioned Attorney Handy's statement 

regarding ADA requirements, asking if CRMC had the authority to 

impose ADA accessibility and if the town would be responsible 

for that. He asked the town solicitor for clarity. Solicitor 

Ursillo stated that he was not aware of CRMC's specific 

authority to impose or require ADA requirements. He mentioned 

that if this was a recommendation from the Harbor Commission, it 

could be something the town could address if approved by CRMC, 

and the applicant could then address ADA compliance.  

Councilman Ley stated that ADA compliance should probably have 

the regulatory framework addressed before they go before CRMC, 

and the council might want to have requirements for ADA 

accessibility. Project Engineer Blanchard explained that 

according to CRMC regulations, a marina with fewer than 25 boats 

is considered a small marina and does not require ADA 

compliance. A discussion ensued regarding ADA compliance and who 

had jurisdictional authority to impose it. Ley talked about the 

potential for other organizations requesting a pool boat and 

whether the town would have the authority to impose ADA 

compliance, expressing the need to understand this before making 

any decision. 

Councilman Sweeney asked for clarification on how the pool water 

would be handled, as addressed by the Harbor Commission. It was 

noted that the filtration plan would be similar to the system 

used by the Yachtsman in Maine, which the applicants intended to 

implement for this pool boat. 

Howard Sutton, president of the Stone Harbor Homeowners 

Association, then spoke. He discussed a letter provided to the 

council from Alyce Wright, a professional realtor from Lila 

Delman, which included an affidavit expressing concerns about 

the proposed marina pool boat's impact on neighboring property 

values. He further read the letter he submitted to the council 

for the record as follows:  
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“We respectfully request that the Bristol Town Council, after due diligence, 

concerns raised by abutting property owners, and issues expressed by the 

Bristol Harbor Commission withdraw the letter of support for the TSL’s 

application for the installation of a pool boat to CRMC that was sent by the 

Town Administrator. 

It appears that the letter Mr. Contente sent to CRMC on June 6, 2023, was 

based on erroneous information and unsupported assumptions provided by 

TSL. The majority of TSL’s points are fiction, not fact. 

In addition, in the requested revised correspondence to CRMC, we support the 

inclusion of the four recommendations of the Bristol Harbor Commission ( see 

attached request issued on July 1, 2024) along with compliance with the State 

of Rhode Island Department of Health requirements for swimming pools and 

an environmental impact study by the RI Department of Environmental 

Management. 

In evaluating this proposal by TSL, it should be evident that the concerns 

raised by tax-paying residents and the Harbor Commission supersede a 

dubious, nominal increase in revenues for a private company. 

The Bristol Town Council usually receives and files CRMC documents without 

comment. One would question why this application, fraught with obvious 

potential problems, should be an outlier” 

Mr. Sutton spoke on his own comments and stated that in over 

four decades working with one of the most respected newspapers 

in the country, he learned the importance of distinguishing fact 

from opinion, fiction, and unsupported assumptions. He 

criticized the letter from the town administrator to the CRMC, 

based on TSL information, as being fiction and unsupported. He 

found it curious that a response regarding property value 

impacts was received within a week, yet when asked about the 

hotel occupancy rate—under study for two years—there was no 

available information. He found it hard to believe they could 

not provide the occupancy rate. 

Attorney Mark Ryan, representing Stone Harbor, then addressed 

the council, noting several issues. He pointed out that while 

the council stated they don't normally take a position on CRMC 

matters, the town had already done so through the town 

administrator's favorable letter, which might have been based on 

misleading facts. Attorney Ryan pointed out that the Harbor 

Commission had made four additional recommendations. He argued 

that remaining silent effectively promotes the hotel boat. 
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He suggested that calling the pool boat a vessel was a 

workaround to avoid going through zoning for a deck. Attorney 

Ryan believed that CRMC cared about the town's stance and 

opinion on the matter, regardless of jurisdiction, and 

encouraged the council not to hesitate in expressing opposition. 

He expressed concern over the hotel's non-compliance with ADA 

requirements, questioning whether the Disability Rights of Rhode 

Island and the Governor's Commission on Disabilities would agree 

that the pool boat, considered a vessel, did not require ADA 

compliance, or if it would be seen as a place of public 

accommodation requiring ADA compliance under Title III. Ryan 

questioned that if neither CRMC nor the town raised the question 

of ADA compliance, who would. 

Discussions ensued about ADA compliance protocols. Attorney Ryan 

pointed out that when the applicant petitioned the zoning board 

for a dimensional variance to construct additional rooms, the 

minutes reflected a high demand for the hotel.  

Attorney Ryan alleged that when the applicant approached the 

town administrator claiming the need for a pool to fill 

occupancy, it contradicted their hardship claim before the 

zoning board, where they sought assistance due to being swamped 

with demand. He argued that both statements couldn't be true. 

Additionally, he contended that if the hotel is swamped in the 

summer and the pool is needed only during that season, it raises 

questions about its use in the off-season. 

In addition, Attorney Ryan highlighted that the town 

administrator had already sent a positive letter supporting the 

pool boat proposal, relying on the information that it would 

benefit the town. However, he argued the validity of this 

information. He discussed the possibility of alternate locations 

for the pool and expressed concerns about the appropriateness of 

the proposed site. 

Attorney Ryan requested that the letter sent by the town 

administrator not be considered the official stance of the town. 

He urged the council to not only forward the recommendations 

made by the Harbor Commission but also to include the council's 

opposition to the application. 

Administrator Contente stated that in June of 2023, after 

meeting with the hotel owner and being provided with a 

significant amount of information and detail, he wrote a letter 

of support for the pool boat proposal. He noted for the record 

that he writes many letters on behalf of individual businesses 

that may have an economic impact, and collectively, these 

businesses do make a difference. Contente highlighted that 
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Bristol Harbor Inn is an employer whose guests’ frequent local 

business, and a pool is a sought-after amenity. 

Town Administrator Contente expressed his disagreement with the 

opposition, maintaining his opinion that the pool would benefit 

the town. Town Administrator Contente acknowledged that while he 

had met with Mr. Sutton over various issues over the years, he 

did not reach out to Mr. Sutton after his initial concerns with 

the letter. He expressed disappointment that Mr. Sutton did not 

reach out to discuss the matter, as he had done in the past. 

Town Administrator Contente emphasized that he typically stands 

by his opinions. However, he respects the council members, and 

if his letter was contrary to the council's intentions, he would 

withdraw it. Town Administrator Contente reiterated his belief 

that the pool would benefit the town and families and stated he 

is a strong proponent of public waterways. 

Town Administrator Contente affirmed that the hotel is well-run 

with no major issues and found the project fascinating. He 

mentioned being informed that neighbors had been and would be 

notified in 2023, and he hoped his integrity and honesty were 

not being questioned. He viewed the pool boat as a positive 

addition to creating a family-friendly atmosphere and stated 

that was his opinion as an elected official. 

Mr. Sutton clarified that no one was questioning the 

administrator's hard work and accomplishments. However, he 

stated that the administrator was misled to believe that the 

neighbors were notified and supportive. In reality, the 

information received was inaccurate. Stone Harbor was not 

notified until two years later and believes that the pool boat 

is a poor idea. Mr. Sutton also raised concerns about noise 

complaints at the hotel, suggesting that these issues would 

worsen if the pool boat were added. 

Councilman Teixeira stated that the administrator is an elected 

official and has the right to hold and express his own opinions. 

He emphasized that they work together, and it is not uncommon 

for the administrator to send out his own letters of support. 

Councilman Teixeira affirmed that it was within the 

administrator's rights to do so and that he would not weigh in 

on the administrator's decision 

Chairman Calouro agreed that the council does not direct the 

administrator and affirmed that they have a great working 

relationship. He emphasized that the council relies on the 

boards and commissions for specialized information, as the 
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council may not be familiar with every rule and regulation. The 

council looks to these boards and department heads for guidance. 

Chairman Calouro expressed his appreciation for the information 

provided by the Harbor Commission and stated that he is not 

interested in revising their recommendations. He mentioned that 

if the Coastal Resources Management Council (CRMC) requires ADA 

compliance, they will ensure it is weighed in appropriately. 

Chairman Calouro believes it is important to move forward with 

the process and that every applicant should have the opportunity 

to proceed. He stated that he does not want to send a letter of 

support or objection at this time. 

Vice Chairwoman Parella stated that while some members of the 

council may not want to take a position, the town is already on 

record supporting the project through a letter and an affidavit. 

The issue is not about whether the administrator can send a 

letter, but rather about the town's official stance. She 

acknowledged that not all council members may share the same 

level of enthusiasm for the project. 

Vice Chairwoman Parella believes that CRMC should be made aware 

that the council does not fully support the project. If CRMC 

proceeds, they should be informed of the council's concerns. She 

cautioned that remaining silent could be interpreted as the 

town's overall support for the project. Vice Chairwoman Parella 

indicated that she would be voting in opposition to the project 

and believes a letter should be sent to raise concerns beyond 

the recommendations of the Harbor Commission. 

Councilman Ley stated that there is a diversity of opinions 

among the council members, with some having grave concerns about 

the project. He is worried that remaining silent would signal to 

the agency that the town may be supportive of the project.  

Discussions ensued on how to effectively communicate to CRMC 

that there are mixed opinions and not everyone is enthusiastic 

about the project. It was recommended that a cover letter, along 

with the council draft minutes, be provided to CRMC. This would 

clarify that the recommendations by the Harbor Commission do not 

specifically express the town or council's support. 

Additionally, it would ensure that CRMC is aware of the concerns 

raised by the council and members of the public. It was also 

suggested to forward the minutes from the Harbor Commission 

Meeting.  
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I. Other New Business Requiring Town Council Action 

I1. Representative Speakman re Information regarding 

Bristol Resolution No. 2024-5-29-FF1 pertaining to 

Opposition of H 7983 re State Building Code 

a. 2024-H 7983 Substitute B - State Building Code 

b. Town Council Resolution No. 2024-5-29-FF1  

 

Teixeira/Sweeney– Voted 

unanimously to receive and file  

Prio to the vote being taken, Representative June Speakman 

addressed the council, noting that she was in attendance with 

Representative Donovan and Senator Ujifusa. She explained that 

the memo provided to the council highlighted several 

inaccuracies in an Exeter, RI resolution that the Bristol 

Council had replicated and passed. She clarified that the 

concerns raised were not part of the final bill that was passed. 

Specifically, she pointed out that the bill did not create an 

office for the State Building Commissioner, as that office was 

actually established in 1974, with the state code adopted in 

1977. 

Additionally, she explained that the act aims to standardize 

building code interpretation across the state, with input from 

the League of Cities and Towns, to ensure consistent enforcement 

throughout Rhode Island. Representative Speakman mentioned that 

many municipalities do not have full-time building officials, 

and the State Building Code Commissioner would serve as a 

municipal building official in towns where none exists. This 

role would assist the towns, much like the State Fire Marshal 

does, and she noted that she was unaware of any issues with the 

fire marshal’s process, believing this to be a similar approach. 

The goal of the bill, she emphasized, is to remove obstacles to 

building houses that may exist due to the lack of officials or 

differing interpretations of the plain language of the code from 

one municipality to the next. The act also allows for the 

creation of an academy and classes to support this 

standardization effort. 

Councilman Texeira expressed concern that the bill becomes a 

cash cow for the state, as indicated in line 27 of the passed 

bill. He pointed out that 50% of the additional levy on 
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residential permits and 100% of the additional levy on 

commercial permits would be used to staff and support the 

purchase or lease of web-accessible services and related 

operations. He was troubled by the potential increase in 

building fees, which might divert funds away from municipalities 

and direct them to the state. Additionally, he was concerned 

that the bill might prioritize the interests of contractors over 

supporting municipalities. 

Representative Speakman responded by clarifying that the 

increase in fees was not an issue raised by the League of Cities 

and Towns and that fees could be reviewed. She assured the 

council that the delegation would work with municipalities to 

address any issues that arise. She emphasized that the primary 

purpose of the bill is to ensure the ability to build houses in 

the state of Rhode Island.  

Discussions ensued regarding ADU changes. 

Here’s a revised version of your meeting minutes: 

Chairman Calouro noted that discussions had taken place between 

the town and the delegation regarding the recently passed House 

bill. He explained that Director of Community Development 

Williamson had raised concerns via email, particularly about the 

provision stating that “the State Building Code Commissioner 

shall have the authority to enforce and perform the duties 

required by the State Building Code, Chapter 27 of this title.” 

He pointed out that this marks a significant change, as the 

previous language indicated that the State Building Code 

Commissioner only had authority over "state properties." The 

removal of this specification represents a major difference, 

raising concerns that even small changes could have substantial 

implications. If there were a disagreement on how something 

should be applied and it didn't conform to the town’s building 

official's interpretation, the state could potentially 

intervene, which Chairman Calouro deemed unacceptable given the 

broad authority the new language provides. 

Representative Speakman acknowledged that while this concern is 

valid, such issues wouldn’t arise in Bristol because the town 

has a competent building inspector. She explained that the bill 

is intended for places where the local inspection process is not 

as effective. However, she understood that the language does 

open the door to potential conflicts. She gave the example of a 

building inspector refusing to inspect someone’s home for 

personal reasons as a situation the bill seeks to address. 
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Discussions ensued about the possibility of tightening the 

language to be more specific and how to move forward with making 

necessary changes. Suggestions were made that included adding an 

appeal process after a certain period of time or limiting the 

provision to municipalities that do not have building officials. 

Representative Speakman expressed willingness to revisit the 

issue during the next legislative session to recommend changes.  

Discussions ensued regarding housing shortages and inspector 

shortages.  

It was noted that there should be clear guidelines included in 

the bill's language. The Chairman indicated that he would meet 

with the Town Administrator and other town officials to develop 

recommended language changes for the bill, which would then be 

provided to the delegation. They also discussed the possibility 

of holding another legislative workshop in November to address 

this item and any other concerns, as they typically do once a 

year. 

 

I2. (Draft) Town Council Internal Policy for Electronic 

Signature Usage for Ceremonial Documents 

Sweeney/Teixeira – Voted 

unanimously to adopt the internal 

policy of electronic signature 

usage for ceremonial documents.  

Prior to the vote being taken, Chairman Calouro noted that this 
initiative was prompted by the Clerk's office to assist with 

ceremonial documents, addressing difficulties that had arisen 

due to the council's scheduling conflicts  

I3. Director Williamson, Community Development re transfer 

of ARPA Funds from Walley School Rehabilitation 

Project to Reynolds School Town Offices HVAC project 

Sweeney/Teixeira– Voted 

unanimously to transfer the amount 

of $2222,730.23 from the ARPA 

funds from the Walley School 

Rehabilitation Project to the 

Reynolds School Town Offices HVAC 

project. 

Prior to the vote being taken, Director Williamson noted that 

this request was to ensure that both buildings continue to be 

improved. The change to the HVAC system is primarily due to the 
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fact that, while the ventilation units can be placed on the 

roof, the condensers cannot and need to be located on the 

ground, which may allow for easier maintenance. A comprehensive 

breakdown of these details was provided in the packet. 

I4. Principal Planner Tanner re Residential Compost pilot 

program 

Sweeney/Teixeira– Voted 

unanimously to move forward with 

the grant application  

Prior to the vote being taken, Director Williamson explained 

that the request was for a matching contribution of $10,969.30 

for a grant opportunity over a two-year project timeline. 

According to the data provided, the town would offset this cost 

through reduced tipping fees. Black Earth and 11th Hour Racing 

are encouraging the town to apply for this USDA grant, and they 

have offered to write the grant on the town’s behalf. If 

awarded, the town would be required to follow a bid process. At 

the end of the two-year pilot program, the town would not be 

under any obligation to continue the program. 

 

Councilman Sweeney expressed enthusiasm for the opportunity, 

highlighting the potential benefits of diverting waste from the 

landfill, decreasing tipping costs, and saving tax dollars. 

Councilman Ley and Chairman Calouro also voiced their strong 

support and excitement for the project. 

I5. Superintendent DaSilva, Bristol Water Pollution 

Control re Utilization of SRF 2022 Funding for 

Additional Work on Contract No. 984 - Solids Handling 

Upgrades 

Sweeney/Teixeria– Voted 

unanimously to allocate $81,256.00 

for additional work on contract 

no. 987-solids handling upgrades, 

utilizing the 2022 SRF and the 

2024 Department Fund Balance. 

Prior to the vote being taken, Superintendent DaSilva addressed 

the council and provided the highlight of the request.  

Chris Cronin, Project Engineer from Beta Group, addressed the 

council to provide an update on the 2.5-year project, which is 

nearing completion. He explained that the project was initiated 

by a DEM notice of violation in 2018 and is focused on process 
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enhancements. The project aims to deliver multiple benefits to 

the town, including more efficient removal of sludge from the 

waste stream, replacement of outdated equipment, improvement of 

the work environment and safety, and the provision of a more 

consistent and higher quality effluent. 

Cronin noted that the proposed change order is less than 5% of 

the total project cost of $6.4 million. The additional funds 

being requested beyond the initial borrowing amount would cover 

unforeseen items that were detailed in the memo provided to the 

council. To help offset this overage, a 2020 resiliency grant 

was applied for and awarded to purchase a bypass pump, which 

would save $170,000 and effectively reimburse the town $87,000, 

thereby assisting with the overall budget overrun. 

The critical nature of the department and the necessity of these 

improvements for both efficiency and environmental protection 

were emphasized, with the council expressing appreciation for 

the project's successful execution. The plan is to utilize as 

much funding as possible from the SRF, with the remaining 

balance covered by the 2024 fund balance. 

 

CF. Citizens Public Forum 

PERSONS WISHING TO SPEAK DURING THE CITIZENS PUBLIC FORUM 

MUST NOTIFY THE COUNCIL CLERK PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF 

THE MEETING 

J. Bills & Expenditures 

J1. Town Council re Allocation of Contingency funds for 

payment of Gob Shop Invoice  

Teixeira/Sweeney – Voted unanimously to 

allocate $193.00 from council 

contingency for payment of the Gob Shop 

Invoice.  

Prior to the vote being taken, it was explained that the funds 

being allocated were to purchase the polo shirts for the elected 

officials for the 4th of July Parade.  

J2. Bid #1051 Storage Carts for Election Equipment 

Teixeira/Sweeney– Voted unanimously to 

refer this matter to the Town 

Administrator to act in the best 

interest of the Town. 
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Prior to the vote taken, the Clerk read the following bids: 

• Westwood Construction in the amount of $28,295.00 

• Print Elect in the amount of $20,120.00 

K. Special Reports 

K1. Juan Mariscal, Chairman, Bristol County Water 

Authority- Tri-Town Monthly Report for June 2024 

Sweeney/Teixeria– Voted 

unanimously to receive and file 

the report and to instruct the 

Clerk to send an invitation to the 

BCWA Board of Directors, 

requesting that they provide the 

council with an update on their 

projects and initiatives at one of 

the next two council meetings.  

Councilman Teixeira reviewed the report and suggested that it 

would be beneficial for the Board of Directors to provide an 

update on the projects and initiatives of the BCWA. While it is 

not common for them to address the council, they do come from 

time to time, and he believed it would be important for the 

council to receive this  

L. Town Solicitor 

M. Executive Sessions 

M1. Town Administrator Contente request for Executive 

Session Pursuant to RIGL  §42-46-5, (5) Any 

discussions or considerations related to the 

acquisition or lease of real property for public 

purposes.  

 

Sweeney/Teixeira – Voted 

unanimously to convene in 

Executive Session pursuant to RIGL 

Section 42-46-5 (a) (5) concerning 

the Acquisition of Open Space at 

9:50 PM. 

 

 

Teixeira/Ley – Voted unanimously 

to resume the open session and 
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seal the minutes of the Executive 

Session at 10:00 PM. 

 

Solicitor Ursillo announced that a motion was made and 

voted on in the Executive Session. 

 

 

Consent Agenda Items: 

(CA) AA. Submission of Minutes - Boards and Commissions 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to receive and 

place these items on file” 

(CA) AA1. Harbor Commission Meeting Minutes - June 3, 2024 

(CA) AA2. Capital Projects Commission Meeting Minutes - May 

21, 2024 

(CA) AA3. Bristol Board of Fire Engineers Meeting Minutes - 

July 1, 2024 

(CA) AA4. Historic District Commission Minutes - May 2, 2024 

(CA) AA5. Historic District Commission Minutes - June 6, 2024 

(CA) AA6. The Zoning Board of Review Minutes - May 6, 2024 

(CA) AA7. The Zoning Board of Review Minutes - June 3, 2024 

(CA) AA8. Rogers Free Library Minutes - May 16, 2024 

(CA) AA9. Bristol Planning Board Minutes - June 13, 2024 

(CA) AA10. Bristol Housing Authority Minutes - June 13, 2024 

(CA) BB. Budget Adjustments 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to approve 

these adjustments” 

(CA) CC. Financial Reports 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to receive and 

place these items on file” 

(CA) CC1. Town Treasurer Carulli re Revenue and Expenditure 

Statement - June 30, 2024 
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(CA) DD. Proclamations, Resolutions & Citations 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to adopt these 

Proclamations, Resolutions and Citations as prepared 

and presented” 

(CA) DD1. Proclamation - Chief Marshals Rick and Patti Baccus 

2024 Bristol Fourth of July  

(CA) DD2. Commendation - William S. Goodnow Eagle Scout Court 

of Honor 

(CA) DD3. Commendation - Aidan Devine, Eagle Scout Court of 

Honor 

(CA) DD4. Resolution Authorizing the Assessment of Valuations 

and Levy of Taxes, Sewer Service Fees and Sewer 

Assessments 

(CA) DD5. Resolution No 2024-5-29-FF1 Opposition to H7983 

(CA) EE. Utility Petitions 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to approve 

these petitions” 

(CA) FF. City & Town Resolutions Not Previously Considered 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to receive and 

place these items on file” 

(CA) GG. Distributions/Communications 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to receive and 

place these items on file” 

(CA) GG1. (Town Administrator Contente) re Prudence Island 

Lifeline Ferry Parking 

(CA) GG2. Town Administrator Contente to Westway Construction 

Inc, Robert West re award bid #1047- Walley School 

Fire Suppression 

(CA) GG3. Town Administrator Contente to Automatic Temperature 

Controls, John Lussier re award bid #1044-Town-Wide 

HVAC Repairs and Maintenance 

(CA) GG4. Town Administrator Contente to Michael Cabral re TA 

appointment to Capital Project Commission 
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(CA) GG5. Letter from Secretary of State Gregg M. Amore 

informing Clerk Cordeiro that her submission for a 

grant to enhance election security has been awarded 

in the amount of $23,500  

(CA) GG6. Administrator Contente to Skurka Construction, David 

Skurka re Award Bid #1050-Portside Drive Drainage 

and Shoreline Improvements 

(CA) HH. Distributions/Notice of Meetings 

(Office copy only) 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to receive and 

place these items on file” 

(CA) HH1. Harbor Commission Meeting - July 1, 2024 

(CA) HH2. Bristol 4th of July General Committee Meeting - June 

27, 2024 

(CA) HH3. Planning Board Meeting - July 18, 2024 

(CA) HH4. Bristol County Water Authority Board of Directors 

Meeting - June 27, 2024 

(CA) HH5. Historic District Commission Meeting - July 10, 2024 

(CA) HH6. Capital Projects Commission Meeting - July 23, 2024 

(CA) HH7. Historic District Commission Meeting - July 11, 2024 

(CA) HH8. Conservation Commission Meeting - July 16, 2024 

(CA) HH9. Board of Canvassers Meeting - July 15, 2024 

(CA) HH10. Zoning Board of Review Meeting (amended) - July 15, 

2024 

(CA) HH11. Bristol 4th of July General Committee Meeting - July 

16, 2024 

(CA) HH12. Board of Canvassers Meeting - July 15, 2024 

(CA) HH13. Board of Canvassers Meeting - July 18, 2024 

(CA) HH14. Rogers Free Library Meeting - July 18, 2024 

(CA) HH15. Bristol Fourth of July Ball Committee Meeting - July 

22, 2024 

(CA) HH16. Housing Authority Meeting - July 23, 2024 

47

Item A1.



 Town Council Meeting July 31, 2024 

(CA) HH17. Bristol County Water Authority Board of Directors 

Meeting - July 30, 2024 

(CA) HH18. Board of Canvassers Meeting - July 31, 2024 

(CA) II. Claims (Referrals) 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to refer these 

items to the Insurance Committee and at its 

discretion to the Interlocal Trust” 

(CA) II1. Michael Tamulaites, 51 Everett Avenue, claim for 

damages to basketball hoop 

(CA) II2. Ann Marie LaRoche, 6 Domenic Court, re reimbursement 

for damage to vehicle 

(CA) II3. Jeffrey J. Taylor, 20 Starbrook Drive, Barrington 

claim for damage to vehicle  

(CA) JJ. Miscellaneous Items Requiring Council Approval 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to approve 

these items” 

(CA) KK. Curb cut petitions as approved by the director of 

public works 

Approval of consent agenda = “motion to grant these 

curb cuts per the recommendation of, and conditions 

specified by, the Director of Public Works” 

(CA) KK1. Osvaldo Toste, 43 Leahy Drive request for curb cut 

on Basswood Drive 

a. recommendation - Town Administrator and Director 

of Public Works 

 

There being no further business, upon a motion by Vice 

Chairwoman Parella, seconded by Councilman Sweeney and voted 

unanimously, the Chairman declared this meeting to be adjourned 

at 10:00 pm.  

____________________________ 

Melissa Cordeiro, Town Clerk 

Council Clerk  
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Executive Session Meeting 

July 31, 2024 

(sealed, council only) 
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SECOND READING 
 

 

LEGAL NOTICE 

 

TOWN OF BRISTOL  

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 

No. 2024-14 

 

 

AN ORDINANCE IN AMENDMENT TO 

CHAPTER 16 

OF THE ORDINANCES OF THE BRISTOL TOWN CODE 

 

 

CHAPTER 16 – MOTOR VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 

*** 

 

ARTICLE V. – STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING 

 

*** 

 

Sec. 16-152. Curb loading zones. 

 

*** 

 

(c) The following curb loading zones are hereby established: 

 

(a) No person shall stop, stand or park a vehicle for any purpose or length of time other 

than for the expeditious unloading and delivery or pick up and loading of materials in 

any place marked as a curb loading zone during hours when the provisions applicable 

to such zones are in effect.  In no case shall the stop for loading and unloading of 

materials exceed 30 minutes. 

 

(b) The driver of a passenger vehicle may stop temporarily at a place marked as a curb 

loading zone for the purpose of, and while actually engaged in, the loading or unloading 

of passengers when stopping does not interfere with any motor vehicle used for the 

transportation of materials which is waiting to enter, or about to enter, such zone. 
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The following curb loading zones are hereby established: 

 

(1) St. Elizabeth Street, the corner of Wood Street on the South side, between the hours 

of 8:00 p.m. and 5:00 p.m., except Sunday and holidays. 

 

(2) John Street, north side, adjacent to the driveway providing access to Plat 10, Lot 25 

at 14 John Street between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., except Sundays and 

holidays. 

 

(3) Charles Street, north side, one space adjacent to the business located at 186 Wood 

Street, between the hours of 6:30 a.m. and 6:30 p.m. 

 

(4) Thames Street, east side, one space adjacent to the business located at 468 Thames 

Street, between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., except weekends and 

holidays. 

 

(5) Thames Street, west side, one space adjacent to the building located at 125 

Thames Street, specifically beginning at a point twenty (20) feet south of the 

northeast corner of said building (which corner is also the south-westerly 

corner of the intersection of Thames Street and the driveway running westerly 

from Thames Street past the Bristol Maritime Welcome Center to Bristol 

Harbor); thence running southerly along the west side of Thames Street a 

distance of sixty-three (63) feet, between the hours of 6:30 a.m. and 6:30 pm. 

 

*** 

 

The Town Council will be in session in the Town Hall, Council Chambers, on August 21, 

2024.  If remonstrance in the meantime, a petition bearing the valid signatures of at least 

twenty (20) qualified voters must be filed with the Town Clerk requesting a Public 

Hearing, such hearing must be held before final action may be taken on said ordinance.  

 

This ordinance shall take place upon its passage. 

 

 

By Order of the Town Council 

Melissa Cordeiro 

COUNCIL CLERK 

 

 

Date:  August 8, 2024 
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SECOND READING 
 

LEGAL NOTICE 

 

TOWN OF BRISTOL  

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 

No. 2024-15 

 

AN ORDINANCE IN AMENDMENT TO 

CHAPTER 16 

OF THE ORDINANCES OF THE BRISTOL TOWN CODE 

 

 

CHAPTER 16 – MOTOR VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 

 

*** 

 

ARTICLE V. – STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING 

 

*** 

 

Section 16-160: Designated parking spaces on Constitution Street for access to the 

Urban Coastal Greenway. 

 

(a) Parking at two designated parking spaces located on the north side of Constitution 

Street, beginning at a point sixty (60) feet east of the seawall at the westerly end of 

Constitution Street; thence running easterly along the north side of Constitution Street 

a distance of forty (40) feet, shall be signed as limited to those persons who are 

accessing the Urban Coastal Greenway.  Such spaces shall also restricted to a maximum 

of two (2) hour parking, with no parking allowed overnight from 11:00 p.m. to 6:00 

a.m., and no residential parking stickers shall apply to these spaces.  Violation of this 

ordinance shall be subject to enforcement by the Police Chief as set forth in this 

Chapter. 

 

The Town Council will be in session in the Town Hall, Council Chambers, on August 21, 

2024.  If remonstrance in the meantime, a petition bearing the valid signatures of at least 

twenty (20) qualified voters must be filed with the Town Clerk requesting a Public 

Hearing, such hearing must be held before final action may be taken on said ordinance.  

 

This ordinance shall take place upon its passage. 

 

By Order of the Town Council 

Melissa Cordeiro 

COUNCIL CLERK 

 

Date: August 8, 2024 
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August 15th, 2024

Elizabeth Sturges Llerena
3345 74th Street
Jackson Heights, NY
11372

To the Honorable Town Council of Bristol,

Good afternoon. I am writing today to voice my strong support for the Council to approve
incorporating a Land Acknowledgement into all official Council and Town business proceedings.
( As of this writing I am not yet able to see the details of the agenda item).

Attending the Bristol public schools (with great teachers) from 1974 to 1982, and living in
Bristol until 1995, I never heard of the Pokanoket people, the correct name for the people who
have inhabited the area for millenia. I heard of the Wampanoags, but just the name. We learned
about the Niña, Pinta and the Santa Maria and every November we decorated cutouts of smiling
Pilgrims and “Indians” and learned that they had happy lives together. I have distinct memories
of being terrified as a very young child at the Fourth of July parade by a white man in brownface
dressed like an “Indian” running up to spectators yelling and waving a hatchet.

It is time for our town to show the historic and present stewards of the land Bristol occupies
the respect they deserve. Remembering and acknowledging the Pokanoket people and their
ancestors’ presence and contributions to that land is a first step towards a healthier, more
peaceful and whole community.

Thank you in advance for reading and including this correspondence in the Town record.
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Bristol County Water Authority

Fiscal Year 2024 Annual Report
March 1, 2023 – February 29, 2024

bcwari.com
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About BCWA
In 1984, the Rhode Island legislature established the Bristol County Water Authority
(BCWA). Prior to this, the Bristol County Water Company directed the management
of the water supply for Barrington, Bristol, and Warren for over a century.

BCWA continually integrates operational efficiencies while it invests in, modernizes,
and maintains the utility. With strategic planning, vigilant maintenance, and constant
innovation, BCWA successfully supplies an average of 3.2 million gallons of quality
water daily to 17,393 metered service connections. BCWA serves a customer
population of 50,793 residents and more than 1,000 commercial users.

Mission

To provide the highest-quality water to all our customers.

Vision

BCWA will be a model regional water utility, recognized for its
customer focus, water quality, system reliability, and efficiency.

Values

1. Quality product and exceptional customer service

2. Effective and efficient asset management

3. Environmental sensitivity

4. Employee development

5. Integrity and transparency
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Chairman’s Letter
The daily tasks and projects may change, but the vision remains the same.
The history of public water supply and distribution in Bristol County is one
of recognizing a need and having a vision for addressing it.

Until 1998, water in Bristol and Warren was supplied by reservoirs in
Rehoboth and Swansea, Massachusetts. This water system of dams,
reservoirs, and pipelines was created in 1883 by the private company Bristol
and Warren Water Works. Barrington Water Company was purchased in
1912, and in 1934, the company was renamed the Bristol County Water
Company. The Bristol County Water Company served all of Bristol County.

Recently, BCWA Board members visited the Shad Factory Reservoir Dam in Rehoboth, located about eight
miles north of our Child Street offices in Warren. In 1912, this dam and the reservoir it created supplemented
the original 1883 system. During our tour, a board member remarked that when the Shad Factory Reservoir
and other earlier reservoirs were proposed, the developers had considerable vision to see the need for a
public water supply. The hopes and dreams of future prosperity resulted in a large demand for safe, high-
quality drinking water. At the time, the three towns had a population of about 11,000 residents. According
to the 2020 census, the population is now 50,793. That water source and other similar impoundments in
Massachusetts served Bristol County in Rhode Island for more than a century. Over the years, numerous
natural and imposed changes took place in the area, leading to declining quality and quantity issues for the
aging water supply and system.

The vision remained the same, only new approaches were needed.

After years of planning, discussion, design and construction, the Cross-Bay Pipeline was put into operation by
the BCWA in 1998. This pipeline delivered high-quality water in sufficient quantity from the Scituate Reservoir
of the Providence Water Supply Board. After 20 years of service, a leak in this pipeline was detected by the
BCWA. Repairs were made quickly, but this incident highlighted the need for redundancy in our water supply.
To address our vision, we are moving forward with a new major connection to the Pawtucket Water system.
This pipeline is currently in the design phase with construction expected to start in 2027. At the same time, we
have an on-going program to repair and replace local water lines.

Implementing a vision for the future of our water supply continues at the BCWA today.

This Annual Report is a testament to the BCWA’s commitment to achieving its vision for Bristol County’s
water supply. The major commitments, projects, and programs we have made on behalf of our customers and
towns are summarized here.

For more information on your public water system, please go to the BCWA website at bcwari.com. The
BCWA also has an online presence on Facebook at facebook.com/Bristol County Water Authority. The
Board’s meetings are open to the public meetings on the fourth Thursday of each month. Each agenda
includes an opportunity for public input. Minutes and videos of all Board meetings are archived on the
website. If you have other questions, issues, or problems regarding your water services, please call or visit our
office.

Finally, a thank you to the dedicated individuals on the BCWA staff whose hard work is key to continually
improving our water supply systems and enhancing our interactions with customers.

Juan Mariscal
Chairman
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Executive Director’s Report
Reliable, dependable, and safe infrastructure systems, whether it be
our transportation network, system of sanitary sewers, or drinking
water supply, are critical for us to go about our daily lives. When one
of these significant systems fails, it can cause a major disruption in all
that we do. At BCWA, our mission is to provide all our customers within
Barrington, Warren, and Bristol with reliable, high-quality water every
minute of every day. Our dedicated team of water professionals works
hard to meet this objective, and I would like to share with you some
of our activities over this past year as well as our plans to continue to
deliver this vital resource to the homes and businesses that we serve.

All of our water is purchased from Providence Water and comes from the Scituate Reservoir. BCWA’s
pipeline is in bedrock 160 feet below the Providence River. We were all reminded of the vulnerability of
our water supply when our pipeline experienced a leak in 2019. For this reason, our most critical project
is securing a connection with Pawtucket Water to provide this area with an additional high-quality and
reliable supply. In 2022, we completed Phase I of the Pawtucket Pipeline Project which provides us with
a major pipeline interconnection to East Providence’s water system, offering a redundant connection to
our water source with Providence Water.

Additionally, we are responsible for maintaining over 230 miles of pipelines and approximately 1,000
hydrants. Some of the oldest pipes are over 100 years old and made of cast iron. Pipelines of that age and
type are prone to breaks, leaks, and water quality issues. To mitigate these issues, our Capital Improvement
Program includes ongoing water system rehabilitation to upgrade older parts of the system. Over the past
10 years, we have rehabilitated 100,000 feet of water main and this past year, we improved 2.2 miles of
pipeline at a cost of $2.5 million. This year, we plan to make improvements to an additional 7,500 feet
of pipeline, including the removal of all 52 lead service lines, at a cost of $2 million.

Despite significant supply chain delays on mechanical and electrical equipment, we look forward to
commissioning the new Hope Street Pump Station this year. This pumping station has been designed
to improve system pressures and fire flow for approximately 1,000 customers in Bristol.

Following several years of planning, engineering, and permitting, the removal of the Kickemuit River
Dams is currently well underway. The removal of the dams is due to the fact we no longer rely on the
Kickemuit Reservoir for our water supply. This project will restore the Kickemuit River estuary and is
widely supported by various environmental groups. We have secured nearly $4 million in grant funding
to cover the costs associated with this project. We have also completed Phase I of the abandoned water
treatment facilities demolition, which included the removal of outdoor tanks and piping. This year, we
are moving ahead with Phase II, which includes the demolition of the decommissioned treatment plant
buildings on Child Street. As we divest from obsolete infrastructure, we look forward to making new
investments in the BCWA water system.

The BCWA team consists of experienced water works professionals, and they bring these projects
to fruition guided by our mission, vision, and values outlined in our Strategic Plan. Additionally,
I am fortunate to work with a dedicated and supportive Board of Directors that work hard for the
communities they represent to ensure that we continue to provide our customers with reliable,
dependable, high-quality water.

Stephen Coutu, P.E.
Executive Director
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Bristol County Water Authority
Five Year Comparative Analysis

5

ITEM FY2024 FY2023 FY2022 FY2021 FY2020 FY2019

# Customers:

Residential 16,236 16,224 16,187 16,141 16,068 15,944

Commercial 1,060 1,060 1,056 1,057 1,052 1,058

Industrial 8 8 8 8 8 8

Municipal 89 89 103 85 85 101

Total: 17,393 17,381 17,354 17,291 17,213 17,111

# Employees (FTEs)*: 32 33 33 34 34 33.25

Consumption: (Thousands of Gallons)

Residential 742,153 741,515 753,177 838,030 745,556 792,096

Commercial 195,733 195,180 190,196 187,366 209,581 208,028

Industrial 1,893 1,682 1,481 1,322 1,331 1,460

Municipal 19,249 18,362 20,397 20,845 22,443 17,056

Total: 956,028 956,739 965,251 1,047,563 978,911 1,018,640

Unaccounted-for Water (%): 11.5% 13% 9.97% 9.80% 10.0% 12.0%

   Rate Increases (%): 6% 4% 3.5% 10.00% 4.50%      3.25%

FINANCIAL FY2024 FY2023 FY2022 FY2021 FY2020 FY2019

Operating Revenue $ 17,247,931 $ 16,167,735 $ 16,066,002 $ 16,223,925 $ 14,014,867 $ 13,945,622

Operating Expenses $ 12,973,560 $ 10,947,462 $ 10,322,013 $ 11,386,966 $ 10,675,724 $ 9,608,020

Operating Income $ 4,274,371 $ 5,220,273 $ 5,743,989 $ 4,836,959 $ 3,339,143 $ 4,337,602

Net Assets $94,849,837 $88,100,798 $ 83,135,047 $78,034,477 $73,856,835 $ 70,803,180

Accounts Receivable (A/R) $ 3,187,563 $ 3,364,224 $ 3,291,024 $ 3,094,067 $ 2,717,961 $ 2,643,645

Debt Coverage Ratio 6.66 6.87 7.62 6.74 9.75 7.99

*Full Time Equivalents
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Pawtucket Pipeline Project Update
Progress continues on Phase II of the Pawtucket Pipeline Project
The Pawtucket Pipeline Project is a five mile, 30-inch connection to the Pawtucket Water Supply.
With Phase I of the project complete, we continue to make progress on Phase II; its design is roughly
60% complete. When it is finished, we will have access to two separate sources of high-quality
water. This will enable us to regulate our water consumption by drawing a minimal amount from
both the Providence and Pawtucket water supply sources to maintain freshness. This also allows
BCWA the flexibility to purchase the remaining volume from the more cost-effective source.
The construction of the pipeline is projected to start in 2026, with completion expected by 2030.

Navigating project expenses
The construction contract for Phase I was initially valued at $6.9 million and was successfully completed
for $5.9 million. The City of East Providence agreed to share the Phase II design costs with BCWA,
contributing half of $2 million, due to a mutual reliance on Providence Water.

To prepare for the potential cost impacts, BCWA has built reserves over the past several years, aiming
to minimize the need for rate increases. Notably, our budget does not include provisions for state or
federal funding. However, BCWA has applied to the Rhode Island Infrastructure Bank, and our project
holds a prominent position on the State Project Priority List.

The purpose behind the Pawtucket Pipeline project
BCWA currently purchases all its water (3.2 million gallons a day) from a single source: Providence
Water. If there were ever flow reduction, service termination, or issues with the East Bay pipeline
(as we faced in 2019), we would be at great risk of not being able to meet the needs of our customers.
Addressing this risk is the primary challenge driving this project.

Phase II pipeline
map. The yellow line
highlights Phase II
pipeline construction/
installation route.
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Strategic Plan Update and Initiatives
A strategic approach
The Bristol County Water Authority uses a Strategic Plan as a guide for executing the initiatives
set forth by the Board of Directors. It establishes shared objectives for our organization, directs
our staff towards achievable actions, and guides investments in resources.

BCWA’s four major strategic initiatives are
1. Continue to maintain high-quality water and secure an alternative water supply source.

2. Continue to provide exceptional customer service.

3. Continue to enhance information management systems to improve operational efficiencies.

4. Continue to ensure financial stability.

We align our efforts with these strategic initiatives to address challenges such as

• our single-source water supply – all water is purchased from Providence Water
(Scituate Reservoir)

• our aging infrastructure – many aged cast-iron pipes and low system pressure areas

• declining water usage

• increasing costs of necessary infrastructure upgrades

• limited state and federal funding

• the divestment of obsolete infrastructure

• increasing need for facility and cyber security

• maintaining a well-trained workforce

We’re actively addressing these challenges by:

• setting up a secondary water supply with the Pawtucket Pipeline

• securing additional bonding and capital funding for modernizing utilities

• leveraging technology to enhance infrastructure performance and resilience

• exercising fiscal responsibility

• utilizing our in-house expertise to cut costs

• strengthening our employee development program

Through technological advancements, staff training, innovative approaches, and continuous
improvements to operational efficiencies, BCWA has made significant strides in modernizing and
optimizing our utility over the years. We remain committed to utilizing all available resources to
ensure quality water delivery through an efficient and dependable system.

Access the current BCWA strategic plan at bcwari.com.
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Capital Plan Update
Flowing forward: improving to better serve our customers

Ongoing maintenance and special projects are crucial components of BCWA’s daily operations for peak
efficiency and performance. Ensuring high-quality water delivery involves following a plan to improve
our distribution system, which includes

• replacing, cleaning, and relining cast iron pipes

• replacing or lining asbestos concrete pipe

• eliminating and reducing low pressure zones

• minimizing shutdowns by installing valves and tying in dead-end mains

Our 10-year capital plan allocates $1-1.5 million annually for pipeline renewal. Over the past 10 years,
nearly 100,000 feet of pipeline have been rehabilitated. In 2023, we rehabilitated 2.2 miles of pipeline,
and we plan to rehabilitate an additional 7,500 feet in 2024. Water system upgrades completed in 2023,
along with the renovation projects planned for 2024, include

Barrington

FY2023 FY2024

• cleaned and cement-lined over 4,300 feet
of older cast iron pipe in Rumstick Road and
Annawamscutt Road

• replaced existing main with 1,580 feet of
new ductile iron pipe in Rumstick Road,
Annawamscutt Road, and Governor
Bradford Street

• replaced existing main with 300 feet of
new polyethylene (PE) pipe in Annawamscutt
and Appian Way

• clean and cement-line over 3,500 feet of
older cast iron pipe and install 300 feet of
new ductile iron pipe in Rumstick Road and
Chachapacasset Road

Water main improvement
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Bristol

FY2023 FY2024

• installed 220 feet of new ductile iron pipe in
Bradford Street, Central Street, and Burnside
Street, while cleaning and cement-lining 2,140
feet of older cast iron pipe

• installed 90 feet of new ductile iron pipe,
110 feet of new PE pipe, and cleaned and
cement-lined 2,925 feet of cast iron pipe in
Low Lane and Monkeywrench Lane

• clean and cement-line 2,000 feet in
State Street

Warren

FY2024

• clean and cement line 1,650 feet of cast iron pipe in Maple Street, Bradford Road,
and Locust Terrace

Hope Street Pump Station construction
The construction of the Hope Street Pump Station is scheduled to be completed this year. Once
finished, this new building in Bristol will improve the water system pressure for approximately 1,000
customers. The pump station's exterior blends in with the surrounding neighborhood, adding a friendly
touch to the area.
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Lead service line replacements
The State of Rhode Island recently passed new regulations regarding lead service lines and requires
public water systems to take an active role in addressing them within their respective service areas.
Over the past 10 years, BCWA has been proactively replacing service lines on the public side where
lead gooseneck connectors are present at the main. The new state regulations will continue that work
with additional requirements. Key aspects of these regulations include

• revised definition to what is considered a lead service line: lead service line replacements now
involve replacing the entire length of the service line. This includes lines traditionally considered
on the “public” side of the connection (maintained by the water authority) as well as the “private”
side of the connection. The “private” side starts at the curb stop and is the responsibility of
the homeowner.
Lead connectors are included in this classification of lead service lines, as are galvanized steel or
iron lines downstream of the lead connectors. If there’s no proof that a service line isn’t made of
lead, it’s assumed to be.

• mandatory replacement: if lead is or was present on the public side, the entire service line
must be replaced.

• service line inventory: a comprehensive inventory of both public and private service lines
must be developed by the public water systems by October 16, 2024.

• timeline: the replacement of all public and private lead service lines must be completed
within 10 years.

BCWA’s response to the
new regulations
In addition to BCWA’s ongoing public
side lead service line replacements, the
new requirement states the private side
must also be replaced, which is at the
homeowner’s expense.

We understand this can be a financial
burden to homeowners and our
customers, so we will be offering a no
interest, five-year finance program to
replace lead and/or galvanized lines on
the private side.
The estimated private side cost is about
$5,000 per location. BCWA has allocated $4 million in its Capital Improvement Program over the next
two years to update the public side service lines and finance private side loans to assist homeowners in
also complying with these new regulations.

We have established a website where customers can identify the materials that make up their
water service line. Information is updated as service lines are replaced and as we gather and verify
information about service line materials at bcwari.com/map-room.
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Divesting from the past - investing in the future
We have made notable headway on two major infrastructure projects: the removal of the Kickemuit
Reservoir dams and the demolition of obsolete treatment facilities.

The removal of both the upper and lower Kickemuit Reservoir dams is scheduled to be completed
this year. The lower dam, which historically divided saltwater and freshwater portions of the
Kickemuit River, faced frequent overtopping due to storm surges and rising sea levels. Prep work
for the demolition of the lower dam began in late October with the removal of contaminated
sediments. Despite facing challenges due to historic high tidal waters and runoff from heavy
downpours, the removal of the lower dam was successfully completed in the spring of 2024.

Demolition began on the upper dam last year, but was suspended over the winter and spring in
accordance with our permit from the RIDEM to minimize the disruption of amphibian activity. The
removal of the upper dam is currently slated for summer/fall 2024. This initiative, which has been
widely supported by environmental groups throughout our state, aims to create cleaner waters,
enhance wildlife habitat, and mitigate flooding. The project has received a total of $3,921,000 in
grant funds, which has covered the costs for the dam removals.

In addition to removal of the dams, several years ago, BCWA decommissioned its obsolete water
treatment facilities, which were built in the late 19th and early 20th centuries. After careful consideration,
Phase I, which included the removal of the exterior plant tanks and piping, was completed. Phase II is
scheduled for late summer/fall 2024 and includes the demolition of the water treatment buildings.

Divesting ourselves from the obsolete dams and treatment plant facilities removes the ongoing
costs and liability associated with maintaining infrastructure that is no longer part of our water supply
system. With the completion of these projects, we look forward to investing in improvements to the
water supply system, such as the Pawtucket Water Supply connection, to ensure system reliability
and sustainability.

Before removal of the lower Kickemuit Dam After removal of the lower Kickemuit Dam
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FY2025 Rate Increase
The BCWA Board of Directors has implemented a rate increase of 5.00% for FY2025 to help us
fulfill our ongoing commitment to provide a safe, high-quality, and reliable water supply. This
increase is crucial to meet our revenue needs and support our 10-year Financial Plan for the
Capital Improvement Program.

With this rate adjustment, the average residential water bill is projected to increase by approximately
$3.42 per month, or $41.00 annually. All funds received by BCWA are directly reinvested into our
operations, reserves, and capital ventures. This rate increase will help us

• ensure water supply security through the Pawtucket Pipeline Project

• finance infrastructure projects that enhance water quality and reliability

• continue to provide exceptional customer service

• preserve reserves for bonding and minimizing future rate hikes

• adjust for decreases in water consumption

We understand the burden that a rate increase places on our customers. Yet, it’s crucial to ensure
the consistent delivery of safe and reliable water – a fundamental service that every BCWA
customer deserves.

For over two decades, BCWA water sales have experienced a continuous
decline. We diligently manage our resources to ensure declining water
usage does not have a negative impact on our quality of service.
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FY2024 System Information

Total water purchased: 1,160 million gallons

Water purchased (average day): 3.2 million gallons per day

Miles of pipe: 233

Number of service accounts:

Residential: 16,236

Commercial: 1,060

Industrial: 8

Government: 89

Total: 17,393

Residential population served: 50,793 (per 2020 U.S. Census)

Average residential annual demand: 45,710 gallons per year

Gallons/person/day: 40

Average annual water bill: $718

Average cost per gallon: $1.6 cents per gallon

Cost of Providence Water: $2,549,055 or 15% of budget revenue

Number of employees: 32
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Fall River, MA 02720
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www.hague-sahady.com

1

To the Board of Directors of the
Bristol County Water Authority
Warren, Rhode Island

Independent Auditor’s Report

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the Bristol County Water Authority (“the Authority”), as of and for the year ended February 29, 2024 (except for
the Pension Trust Fund which for the year ended June 30, 2023), and the related notes of the financial statements, which
collectively comprise of the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position
of the business-type activities and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Authority, as of February 29, 2024, and the
respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Authority and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained in sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in
the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond
the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in aggregate, they would influence the judgment made
by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards, we:

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,

and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the
audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion and
analysis, Pension Plan information, and Other Post Employment Benefit information, as listed on the table of contents, be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, is the responsibility of management and although
not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it
to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit
of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information comprises the
receipts, disbursements and transfers for fund held by BCWA and Trustees, non-capitalized fees paid to consultants, and
debt service fund requirement calculation but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express an
opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and
consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial statements, or the
other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an
uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report.
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Other Matters

Prior-Year Comparative Information

The financial statements include partial prior-year comparative information related to the statement of net position, the
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position, and the statement of cash flows for the Authority’s business-
type activities and the statement of fiduciary net position and the statement of changes in the fiduciary net position for the
Authority’s aggregate remaining fund information. Such information does not include all of the information required for a
presentation in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, such information should be
read in conjunction with the Authority’s financial statements for the year ended February 28, 2023, from which such
partial information was derived.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 21, 2024 on our
consideration of the Authority's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing,
and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering the Authority's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Hague, Sahady & Co., CPAs, P.C.

Hague, Sahady & Co., CPAs, P.C.

Fall River, Massachusetts
June 21, 2024
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Introduction

As noted in the Independent Auditor's Report from Hague, Sahady & Co, P.C., Management’s Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A) provides supplemental information to the audit and should be read in conjunction with it. The purpose of the
MD&A is to introduce and highlight the more detailed information provided in the audited financial statements. For
example, it will assess the improvement or deterioration of the Authority’s financial position and will identify factors that,
in management’s opinion, affected financial performance during the fiscal year under review.

Contents of the Audited Financial Statements
• Statement of Net Position

This statement provides information about the Authority’s investments in resources (assets) and its obligation to
creditors (liabilities), with the difference between them reported as net position.

• Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
This statement demonstrates changes in net position from one fiscal period to another by accounting for revenues
and expenses and measuring the financial results of operations. The information may be used to determine how
the Authority has funded its costs.

• Statement of Cash Flows
This statement provides information concerning the Authority’s cash receipts and payments, as well as net
changes in cash resulting from operations, capital and related financing, and investing activities.

• Fiduciary Financial Statements
These statements provide information about net assets available for benefits under the Authority’s employee
benefit plans and changes in net assets available for benefits.

• Notes to the Financial Statements
Notes to the audited financial statements contain information essential to understanding them, such as the
Authority’s accounting methods and policies.

Financial Highlights – Fiscal Year 2023
• The Authority’s net position increased by $6.7MM or 7.7%.
• During the year, the Authority’s operating revenues increased 6.68% to $17.25MM. Total expenses increased

from $10.9MM to $12.97MM or by 18.5%.
• The Authority made an additional deposit of $125K to the established OPEB Irrevocable Trust during fiscal year

2024 increasing the balance to almost $1.61MM.
• The Debt Service Ratio decreased to 6.66 for FY2024.
• The Authority’s capital contributions increased from $115K to $140K, indicating an increase in the number of

new service contributions for the year.

Financial Highlights – Fiscal Year 2022
• The Authority’s net position increased by $4.9MM or 5.6%.
• During the year, the Authority’s operating revenues increased .63% to $16.17MM. Total expenses increased from

$10.3MM to $10.9MM or by 6.1%.
• The Authority made an additional deposit of $100K to the established OPEB Irrevocable Trust during fiscal year

2023 increasing the balance to almost $1.28MM.
• The Debt Service Ratio decreased to 6.87 for FY2023.
• The Authority’s capital contributions increased from $84K to $115K, indicating an increase in the number of new

service contributions for the year.
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Required Financial Statements

Proprietary Funds

The Proprietary Fund Financial Statements of the Authority report information about the Authority using accounting
methods similar to those used by private sector companies. These statements offer short and long-term financial
information about its activities. The Statement of Net Position, (Balance Sheet), includes all of the Authority’s assets and
deferred outflows of resources, and its liabilities and provides information about the nature and amounts of investments in
resources (assets) and the obligations to Authority creditors (liabilities). It also provides the basis for computing rate of
return, evaluating the net position of the Authority and assessing the liquidity and financial flexibility of the Authority.

All the current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in the Proprietary Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenses
and Changes in Net Position. This statement measures the success of the Authority’s operations over the past year and can
be used to determine whether the Authority has successfully recovered all its costs through its user fees and other charges,
profitability, and credit worthiness. The final required financial statement is the Statement of Cash Flows. The primary
purpose of this statement is to provide information about the Authority’s cash receipts and cash payments during the
reporting period. The statement reports cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in cash resulting from operations,
investing, and financing activities and provides answers to such questions as where cash come from, what was cash used
for, and what was the change in cash balance during the reporting period.

Fiduciary Funds

The Fiduciary Fund financial statements are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties other than the
Authority. These funds are not available to fund Authority operations and therefore are not reflected in the Proprietary
Fund financial statements. The Authority established an Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) trust fund in FY2014
with an initial deposit of $75,000 and annual deposits following of $50,000, $100,000, $150,000, $114,000, $50,000,
$75,000, $125,000, $125,000, $100,000 and 125,040 in FY2024. The basic fiduciary fund financial statements and
footnotes can be found on pages 17-18 and 37-42 and 44-50, respectively, of this report.

Financial Analysis of the Authority

Analysis of the Authority begins on page 12 of the Financial Statements. One of the most important questions asked about
the Authority’s finances is “Is the Authority as a whole better off or worse off as a result of the year’s activities”? The
Statement of Net Position, and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position report information
about the Authority’s activities in a way that will help answer this question. These two statements report the net position
of the Authority and changes in it. You can think of the Authority’s net position, (the difference between assets and
deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources) as one way to measure financial health or
financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in the Authority’s net position are one indicator of whether its
financial health is improving or deteriorating. However, you will need to consider other non-financial factors such as
changes in economic conditions, population growth, and weather conditions.
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Net Position

To begin our analysis, a summary of the Authority’s Statements of Net Position are presented in the following
Table A-1 and Table A-2:

Table A-1
Condensed Statement of Net Position February 29th February 28th
Summary: Net Assets FY 2024 FY 2023

Assets:
Current and other Assets 44,684,003$ 43,230,006$
Capital Assets 94,952,797 92,970,309

Total Assets: 139,636,800 136,200,315

Deferred outflows of resources: 1,187,609 1,723,673

Liabilities:
Long-Term Debt Outstanding 36,596,918$ 40,525,363$
Other Liabilities 7,027,050 6,728,515

Total Liabilities: 43,623,968 47,253,878

Deferred inflows of resources: 2,350,604 2,569,311

Net Assets:
Net Investments in Capital Assets 57,788,012$ 51,667,911$
Restricted 10,875,079 13,814,477
Unrestricted 26,186,746 22,618,410

Net Position: 94,849,837$ 88,100,798$

Please note recent accounting policy requires that we include the amount of any remaining funds not drawn
down at year end from current Bonds or Loans as a Receivable Asset and offset as a Debt Outstanding.

Table A-1 above shows that Net Position increased $6.7MM from $88.1MM in FY2023 to $94.8MM in
FY2024. Total assets increased by $3.4MM from FY2023 to FY2024, total liabilities decreased by almost
$3.6MM due to principal payments on bonds during the year. In addition, deferred outflows of resources
increased $536K and deferred inflows of resources increased by $219K in FY2024.

A further review shows that the Authority’s Net Investments in Capital increased by $6.1MM and Restricted
Net Assets decreased by $2.9MM. These borrowed funds can only be used for the Capital Projects outlined in
the loan agreements. The Unrestricted net position (which can be used to finance day-to-day operations)
increased by a net also of approximately $3.6MM.
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Net Position (Continued)

Table A-2

Statement of Revenues February 29th February 28th

Expenses & Changes in Net Position FY 2024 FY 2023

Revenues:

Operating revenues 17,247,931$ 16,167,735$

Non-Operating Revenues 3,279,269 634,339

Total Revenue 20,527,200 16,802,074

Operating Expenses:

Water Operations 6,868,504 4,955,031

Insurance, Taxes & EE Benefits 1,450,497 1,516,712

Depreciation Expense 2,423,975 2,213,605

Customer Service & Accounting 631,202 596,072

Administration 1,599,382 1,666,042

Total Expenses 12,973,560$ 10,947,462$

Non-Operating Expense (944,950) (1,003,776)

Increase in net position before

Contributed Capital 6,608,690 4,850,836

Capital contributions 140,349 114,915

Changes in Net Position: 6,749,039 4,965,751

Net position- beginning 88,100,798 83,135,047

Net position- ending 94,849,837$ 88,100,798$

While the Statements of Net Position show the change in the financial position of the Authority, the
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position provide answers as to the nature and
source of these changes. As can be seen in Table A-2 above, Net Revenue (Total Revenues less Total
Expenses) was $6.6MM in FY2024 as compared to $4.85MM in FY2023. A closer examination of the source
of changes in net position reveals that the Authority's operating revenues increased by $1.1MM in FY2024
versus an increase of $102K in FY2023. These revenue changes in FY2024 and FY2023 are reflective of a
6.0% and 4.0% rate increase respectively imposed each year. The increase in FY2024 was attributable to the
effect of the rate increase offset by a slight decrease in water consumption by our customers in FY 2024
versus FY 2023.

Total expenses increased from $10.9MM in FY2023 to $12.97MM in FY2024. This increase was caused
by the adjustments related to the pension plan ($242k) along with costs associated with the demolition of
the water treatment facility tanks and demolition work done on the upper and lower Kickemuit dams. The
dam demolition work is covered by grant funds included in Non-Operating Income.

You may also note that Capital Contributions increased over $25K in FY2024 indicating an increase in the
number of new service contributions for the year. Overall, the Authority has shown a steady healthy increase
in Net Position over the past five years averaging over $5.0MM per year.
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Budgetary Highlights

As required by its By-Laws, the Authority adopts an Operations and Maintenance and a Capital Budget prior to the start
of its fiscal year. The budgets remain in effect the entire year and are usually not revised as is the case in many
governments. A Fiscal 2024 and 2023 budget comparison and analysis are presented in the interim financial
statements; however, they are not reported on nor shown in the audited financial statement section of this report.

Table A-3
Summary: Budget vs Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual

FY 2024 FY 2024 FY 2023 FY 2023

Revenues:
Operating Revenues 15,867,055$ 17,247,931$ 15,098,497$ 16,167,735$
Non-Operating Revenues 104,004 3,279,269 22,000 634,339

Total Revenues 15,971,059 20,527,200 15,120,497 16,802,074

Operating Expenses:
Water Operations 7,695,271 6,868,504 6,130,200 4,955,031
Insurance, Taxes and EE Benefits 1,725,987 1,450,497 1,448,809 1,516,712
Depreciation Expense 2,300,004 2,423,975 2,250,000 2,213,605
Customer Service & Acccounting 507,784 631,202 486,387 596,072
Administration 2,073,602 1,599,382 2,032,741 1,666,042

Total Operating Expenses: 14,302,648 12,973,560 12,348,137 10,947,462

Non-Operating Expenses 1,298,700 944,950 910,000 1,003,776

Total Expenses 15,601,348 13,918,510 13,258,137 11,951,238

Increase in Net Position before
Contributed Capital 369,711 6,608,690 1,702,360 4,850,836

Capital contributions 108,000 140,349 100,000 114,915

Increase in Net Position 477,711 6,749,039 1,802,360 4,965,751

Net position- beginning 88,100,798 88,100,798 83,135,047 83,135,047

Net position- ending 88,578,509$ 94,849,837$ 84,937,407$ 88,100,798$

As can be seen from Table A-3 above, the FY2024 revenues were 128.5% of budget estimates while total
expenses were 89.2% of budget. The ending Net Position was 107.2% of the Budget projection.

In FY2023 total revenues were 111.1% of budget estimates while total expenses were 89.1% of budget. The
ending Net Position was 103.7% of the Budget projection.

Actual expenses in FY2024 were 10.8% lower than budgeted estimates largely due to a variety of things
including water consumption returning to a normal level of usage along with some decreases in administration
and employee benefit expenses. This decrease includes a decrease in professional services versus budget due
largely to delays in projects. Revenues in FY2024 were higher than budget expectations based upon the 4.0%
rate increase in FY 2023 plus the 6.0% increase in FY 2024 offsetting the decreased consumption as we return
to normal usage.
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Capital Assets and Debt Administration

At the end of Fiscal 2024, the Authority had invested $94.95 million in a broad range of infrastructure including reservoirs,
dams, water plants and facilities, maintenance and administration facilities, water lines, vehicles and equipment as shown in
Table A-4.

Table A-4 February 29th February 28th
Capital Assets FY 2024 FY 2023

Capital Assets:
Land 2,020,265$ 2,020,265$
Treatment, storage and admin facilities 9,984,794 9,760,018
Distribution system 104,333,714 100,254,110
Equipment 12,284,597 12,172,502
Construction in progress 4,192,967 4,202,980

Total Capital Assets: 132,816,337 128,409,875

Less accumulated depreciation (37,863,541) (35,439,566)

Net Capital Assets 94,952,797$ 92,970,309$

During FY2024 the following are major capital asset additions or changes:
• $112K in Equipment which includes $81.4K for a pickup with a dump body.
• $4.08MM in the Distribution System which includes $3.8M for Renewals and the FY2024 Capital

Projects.
• $225K in Treatment, Storage & Admin Facilities which includes replacing the roof of the administration

building.
• $10K decrease in Construction in Process Phase 1 completion offsetting the projects underway.

During FY2023 the following are major capital asset additions or changes:
• $47K in Equipment which includes $27.6K for a new Pickup.
• $8.4MM in the Distribution System which includes $7.5M for Phase 1 completion.
• $25K in Treatment, Storage & Admin Facilities.
• $2.8MM decrease in Construction in Process Phase 1 completion offsetting the projects underway.

In Table A-5 below, the Authority’s Fiscal 2025 Capital Budget estimates spending approximately $5.76MM for Capital
Projects, principally for supply and distribution. Approximately, $1.5MM will be paid by the project funds from the
Webster bond which was obtained in March 2023. The remaining balance will be paid by cash IFR funds and projected
cash flow in FY2025.

Table A-5
Capital Budget FY 2025

Computer Systems/SCADA 50,000$
Facilities 425,000
Supply and distribution 4,960,000
Equipment/meters/vehicles 320,000

Total 5,755,000$
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Long Term Debt

Table A-6 February 29th February 28th February 28th
Debt Service Ratio Coverage FY 2024 FY 2023 FY 2022

Revenue fund balance 24,141,601$ 21,221,350$ 18,509,028$
Revenue collected from operations 16,990,000 16,735,000 16,250,000
Interest income 1,841,125 486,227 3,264

Total Revenue Available 42,972,726 38,442,577 34,762,292

Total Operating Expenses, Net 10,327,913$ ** 8,519,282$ ** 8,816,771$ **

Net Revenues Available 32,644,813$ 29,923,295$ 25,945,521$

Debt Service Requirement 4,901,202$ 4,356,383$ 3,405,787$

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 6.66 6.87 7.62

Debt Service Required Ratio 1.25 1.25 1.25

Table A-6 shows the decrease in the Authority’s Debt Service Ratio from 6.87 in FY2023 to 6.66 in FY2024
due to an increase in debt service offset by the increase in the Revenue Fund balance this year. Our Bond and
Loan covenants require that the Authority maintains at least a 1.25 ratio of net revenues available to cover the
current debt service for each year. A ratio consistently over 6.50 creates more confidence from lenders
meaning lower rates for our current and future borrowing. This is evident in the excellent rates we received on
our $12MM Webster bond (2.88%) subsequent to FY 2023 and the TD Bank refunding of the 2014A bond this
year to a 5-year bond at a rate of .975% during FY 2022. The key to this improvement has been building our
Revenue & IFR Reserve Funds over the last few years which was offset by the $12MM bond issue in FY2023.
(** Note-FY2022, FY2023, and FY2024 Net Expenses are net of cash paid to capital projects from operating cash).

Table A-7 Debt Balance Average Coupon Debt Balance Average Coupon
Cost of Capital Feb. 29, 2024 Rate Feb. 28, 2023 Rate

Bond/Loan:
2008 Loan 2,090,000$ 3.150% 2,393,000$ 3.150%
2011 Loan 481,000 2.930% 531,000 2.930%
2014 Loan (RICWFA) 848,881 2.180% 912,554 2.180%
2018 Bond (TD Bank) 2,181,737 3.320% 2,641,709 3.320%
2018 Bond (RIIB) 3,086,300 2.030% 3,246,100 2.030%
2019 Bond (Chase) 13,659,000 1.880% 14,771,000 1.880%
2021 Bond (TD Bank)* 2,700,000 0.975% 4,030,000 0.975%
2022 Bond (Webster) 11,550,000 2.880% 12,000,000 0.000%

Total Bond/Loan Balance: 36,596,918$ 40,525,363$

Table A-7 above shows that the total net Bond/Loan balance decreased by approximately $3.93MM in FY2024 as a result
of the principal payments made during FY2024.
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Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget and Rates

The Authority's Board of Directors and management considered many factors when setting the Fiscal 2025 budget, user
fees, and charges. Inflation in the Bristol County area is considered to be comparable to the National Consumer Price
Index (CPI) increase. The Authority uses regional average wage increases and wage increases in accordance with its
collective bargaining agreement when considering employment cost increases. These indicators were taken into
consideration when adopting the Authority budget for Fiscal 2025. However, historical financial data also plays a large part
in its formulation.

Table A-8 Budget Actual
FY 2024 Budget vs. FY 2023 Actual FY 2025 FY 2024

Revenues:
Operating Revenues 16,549,425$ 17,247,931$
Non-Operating Revenues 1,464,120 3,279,269

Total Revenues 18,013,545 20,527,200

Expenses:
Depreciation Expense 2,500,008 2,423,975
Other Operating Expenses 10,494,228 10,549,585
Non-Operating Expense 902,340 944,950

Total Expenses 13,896,576 13,918,510

Increase in Net Position before
Contributed Capital 4,026,969 6,608,690

Capital contributions 108,000 140,349
Changes in Net Position: 4,134,969 6,749,039

Net position- beginning 94,849,798 88,100,798

Net position- ending 98,984,767$ 94,849,837$

As shown in Table A-8 above, operating budget revenues available for recovering operating costs are projected to be
about $17.9MM, a decrease over last year’s actual. Although a rate increase of 5.0% has been budgeted and
implemented for Fiscal 2025, the Authority is conservatively projecting revenues to be lower than the actual of
FY2024 with consumption returning to a more normal level. Historically the demand for water continues to
decline. The possible impact of an extremely wet or dry summer, continued conservation efforts of the
ratepayers, and other possible economic factors can play a factor in revenue for the year. We anticipate a slight
decrease in non-operating expenses as due to a decrease in interest expense. These projections will be reviewed
for propriety each year and/or when operating changes having a financial impact dictate. Budget expenses for
FY2025 are estimated to decrease slightly versus the actual expenses of FY2024 due to a decreased costs
associated with the demolition of the former treatment plant and dam which are offset by inflationary pressures
on operating cost being offset by. The Authority is always making efforts to reduce costs and will continue to do
so in Fiscal 2025.
Contacting the Authority’s Manager of Finance

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, investors, and creditors with a general overview of the
Authority's finances and to demonstrate the Authority's accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions
about this report or need additional financial information, contact the Bristol County Water Authority's Manager of
Finance, P. 0. Box 447, Warren, Rhode Island 02885.
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Fund Financial Statements
Proprietary Funds
Statement of Net Position

2024 2023
Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 521,233$ 590,783$
Accounts recevable, less allowance of

$592,446 and $437,813 in 2024 and 2023
Billed 1,213,960 1,710,172
Unbilled 1,973,603 1,654,052

Total accounts receivable 3,187,563 3,364,224

Grants receivable 1,334,227 0
Accrued investment income 154,015 114,889
Prepaid Items 92,275 40,513
Inventory and other assets 276,872 242,518

Unrestricted current assets
Funds held by BCWA 28,242,739 25,062,601

Total Current Assets 33,808,924 29,415,528

Noncurrent Assets
Restricted Assets

Funds held by trustee 10,875,079 13,814,478
Non-depreciable capital assets 6,213,232 6,223,245
Depreciable capital assets 88,739,565 86,747,064

Total Noncurrent Assets 105,827,876 106,784,787

Total Assets 139,636,800 136,200,315

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension related outflows 591,110 1,021,191
OPEB related outflows 596,499 702,482

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 1,187,609$ 1,723,673$

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 140,824,409$ 137,923,988$
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2024 2023
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable 909,300 298,145$
Other payables 152,284 142,544
Accrued expenses 396,282 414,553
Customer deposits, net 427,296 413,675
State water protection escrow 702,309 701,608
Retainage payable 416,168 315,429
Accrued interest expense 384,335 412,145
Long-term debt due within one year 4,013,937 3,928,445

Total Current Liabilities 7,401,911 6,626,545

Noncurrent Liabilities
Net pension obligation 484,468 823,271
Net other post employment benefit liability 3,154,608 3,207,145
Long-term debt due after one year 32,582,981 36,596,918

Total Non-Current Liabilities 36,222,057 40,627,334

Total Liabilities 43,623,968 47,253,879

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred bond subsidy 164,351 176,678
Pension related inflows 394,306 432,365
OPEB related inflows 1,791,947 1,960,268

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 2,350,604 2,569,311

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 57,788,012 51,667,911
Restricted 10,875,079 13,814,477
Unrestricted 26,186,746 22,618,410

Total Net Position 94,849,837$ 88,100,798$

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows
of Resources and Net Position 140,824,409$ 137,923,988$

2405400_Financial_019 Page 19 03-Jul-24

Black

242

Item K2.



BRISTOL COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Years Ended February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
14

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

2024 2023
Operating Revenues (Net Refunds)

Water 16,777,268$ 15,708,008$
Fire services 366,906 348,489
Other 103,757 111,238
Total Operating Revenues (Net Refunds) 17,247,931 16,167,735

Operating Expenses
Operations 8,415,191 7,088,361
Operations - nonrecurring 602,437 102,472
Engineering and administrative 1,531,957 1,543,024
Depreciation 2,423,975 2,213,605
Total Operating Expenses 12,973,560 10,947,462

Operating Income 4,274,371 5,220,273

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
Interest income 1,945,042 636,215
Interest expense (944,950) (1,003,776)
Grant income 1,334,227 0
Other 0 (1,876)
Net Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) 2,334,319 (369,437)

Increase in Net Position before Capital Contributions 6,608,690 4,850,836

Capital Contributions
Capital contributions 140,349 114,915

Increase in Net Position 6,749,039 4,965,751

Net Position at March 1 88,100,798 83,135,047

Net Position at February 29 94,849,837$ 88,100,798$
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Statement of Cash Flows

2024 2023

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash received from customers 17,438,213$ 16,120,949$
Cash received from government agency 10,441 (4,623)
Cash paid to employees and suppliers for goods and services (10,016,062) (8,745,971)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 7,432,592 7,370,355

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Interest income (expense), net 3,279,269 636,215
Grant revenue (1,334,227) 0
BCWA and trustee revenue and debt service accounts, net (240,739) (10,037,420)
Net Cash used for Investing Activities 1,704,303 (9,401,205)

Cash flows from capital and Related Financing Activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,406,463) (5,732,453)
Capital contributions 140,349 114,915
Proceeds from long-term debt 0 12,000,000
Payments on bonds and note payable (3,928,445) (3,460,384)
Interest payments (1,011,886) (998,895)
Net cash provided by (used for) Capital and Related Financing Activities (9,206,445) 1,923,183

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (69,550) (107,667)

Cash and Cash Equivalents, March 1 590,783 698,450

Cash and Cash Equivalents, February 29 521,233$ 590,783$

Cash and Cash Equivalents, per Balance Sheet 521,233$ 590,783$
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2024 2023
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating

Activities:

Operating income 4,274,371$ 5,220,273$

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Depreciation 2,423,975 2,213,605
Change in customer extension deposits

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase (decrease) in accounts receivable 190,282 (46,786)
Increase (decrease) in inventory and other assets (86,116) (8,468)
Increase (decrease) in deferred outflows of resources 536,064 (585,261)
Increase (decrease) in other liability 10,441 (4,623)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 693,622 (140,257)
(Decrease) increase in net pension liability (338,803) 939,790
(Decrease) increase in other post employment liability (52,537) (548,926)
(Decrease) increase in deferred inflows of resources (218,707) 331,008

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 7,432,592$ 7,370,355$
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Fiduciary Funds
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

2024 2023
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 0 $ 0
Investments, at fair value

Fixed Income 1,291,776 2,426,686
Equity 3,529,059 2,115,496
Short-Term 486,563 30,684

Investment income 0 0

Total assets 5,307,398 4,572,866

Liabilities
None 0 0

Net Position
Restricted for pension 3,692,862 3,293,332
Held in trust for other post-employment benefits 1,614,536 1,279,534

Total Net Position 5,307,398$ 4,572,866$

OPEB and

Pension Trust Fund (as of June 30
2023 and 2022)
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Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

2024 2023
Additions
Contributions

Employer contributions 467,459$ 317,416$
Total contributions 467,459 317,416

Investment income
Net investment income 583,680 (623,684)
Total investment income 583,680 (623,684)

Total additions 1,051,139 (306,268)

Deductions
Administration fees 10,030 622,439
Actual and service benefits payments 306,577 101,620

Total deductions 316,607 724,059

Change in net position 734,532 (1,030,327)

Net Position - March 1 4,572,866 5,603,193

Net Position - February 29 5,307,398$ 4,572,866$

OPEB and
Pension Trust Fund (as of June 30

2023 and 2022)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ORGANIZATION

Reporting Entity

The Bristol County Water Authority (the Authority) was authorized as a public corporation on May 12, 1981, by
an act of the Rhode Island Legislature and was created for purposes of acquiring, constructing, improving,
operating and maintaining water distribution systems in order to provide adequate water supplies to the residents
of Bristol County. Bristol County includes the municipalities of Barrington, Bristol and Warren, Rhode Island.
In November 1983, the voters of Bristol County approved the establishment of the Authority and, with the
appointment of its members, the Authority came into existence on February 28, 1984. The Authority
commenced its principal operations on November 25, 1986, with the acquisition of the Bristol County Water
Company (Water Company).

Fund Financial Statements

Fund financial statements of the reporting entity are organized into funds each of which is considered to be
separate accounting entities. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts
which constitute its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures/expenses. Funds are organized
into two major categories: proprietary and fiduciary.

The funds of the financial reporting entity are described below:

Proprietary Funds

Proprietary funds are used to account for business-like activities provided to the general public. These activities
are financed primarily by user charges and the measurement of financial activity focuses on net income
measurement similar to the private sector. The operations of the Authority are accounted for on a Proprietary
Fund Type (Enterprise Fund) basis. Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations (a) that are financed and
operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises where the intent of the governing body is that the
costs (including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be
financed or recovered primarily through user charges; or (b) where the governing body has decided that periodic
determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance,
public policy, management control, accountability, or other uses. The accounting and financial reporting
treatment applied to the Authority is determined by its measurement focus. The transactions of the Authority's
Proprietary Fund are accounted for on a flow of economic resources management focus. With this measurement
focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with the operations are included on the statement of net position.
The statement of net position presents information on the Authorities assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and
deferred inflows. Differences between these amounts are reported as net position. Over time, increases and
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Authority is
improving or deteriorating. Net position is segregated into three components: net investment in capital assets,
restricted, and unrestricted net position.

Proprietary fund revenues and expenses are recognized on the accrual basis. Revenues are recognized in the
accounting period in which they are earned and become measurable; expenses are recognized in the period
incurred, if measurable. Operating revenues consist of customer charges for usage and services. All other
revenues are considered non-operating sources of revenue.
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NOTE 1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ORGANIZATION (CONTINUED)

Fund Financial Statements

Fiduciary Fund

Other Post-Employment Benefit Trust (OPEB) and Pension Trust funds are used to account for resources legally
held in trust for the payment of benefits other than pensions. The OPEB Trust Fund accumulates resources for
future retiree health and insurance benefits for eligible retirees.

OPEB and Pension trust fund financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. Contributions
are recognized when due. Investment income is recognized when earned and expenses (benefits and
administration) are recognized when they are due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan.

When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position are available, it
is the Authority's policy to use restricted resources first.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash (held by trustee) include highly
liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased. Restricted cash has been
classified as noncurrent as it primarily represents unspent bond proceeds restricted for future capital
spending.

Marketable Securities - Marketable securities included in funds held by trustee are stated at fair value.

Receivables - Revenues include amounts billed to customers on a monthly or quarterly cycle basis and unbilled
amounts based on estimated usage from the date of the latest meter reading to the end of the Authority's fiscal
year. The allowance for doubtful accounts for February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023 was $592,446 and
$437,813, respectively.

Materials and Supplies Inventory - Materials and supplies inventory is stated at the lower of cost (average
cost method) or market.

Capital Assets - Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method over the estimated remaining useful lives
of the applicable assets. The capitalization threshold is any individual item with a total cost equal to or greater
than $5,000. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expenses as incurred. Major renewals or betterments are
capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Equipment 5 years
Land improvements 5-45 years
Buildings and storage facilities 10-75 years
Distribution system 40-100 years
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Construction in Progress - Construction in progress consists of the capital projects’ design, planning and
construction costs. Upon completing the project and finalizing the financial transaction, the construction in
progress is transferred into the completed project capital asset account. Once transferred, the Authority will
start to depreciate the completed capital project.

Capital Contributions - Capital contributions consist of property, plant, and equipment paid for by
customers for water installations. Once the installation is complete, the property, plant, and equipment
transfer to the Authority.

Leases – A lease is a contract that conveys the control of the right to use another entity’s nonfinancial asset
(the underlying asset) for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like transaction. A lessor would
recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources. A lessee would recognize an intangible
right to use asset and a lease liability. These transactions are measured at the present value of payments
expected to be made during the lease term using the discount rate in the lease. If the lease discount rate
cannot be readily determined from the lease, the Authority uses its incremental borrowing rate.

A right to use lease asset with a lease term greater than one year and initial present value over a designated
threshold are recorded as intangible assets. Right to use lease assets are amortized over the contract term of
the lease. Leases that do not meet these criteria are recognized as current period revenues and expenses.
For the year ended February 29, 2024, the authority did not have any lease agreements that met the above
criteria.

Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITA) – A SBITA is a contract that
conveys control of the right to use another party’s IT software, alone or with a combination with tangible
capital assets, as specified in the contract for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like transaction.
The entity would need to maintain control over the underlying IT assets (the right to the present service
capacity and to dictate the nature and manner of use of the asset).

Short-Term SBITA’s, a maximum term of 12 months at the commencement of the subscription period, and
maintenance fees from already purchased programs, are exempt from the implementation of GASB 96. For
the fiscal year ended February 29, 2024, the Authority only had maintenance expenses, which did not
increase the efficiency or add functionality.

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources - In addition to assets, the statement of financial position can report a
separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate section represents a consumption of net
position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until
that later date. At February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023, there were $1,187,609 and $1,723,673 in
deferred outflows respectively, relating to pension and OPEB related outflows.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position can report a separate section for deferred inflows of
resources. This separate section represents the acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and
therefore will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until a later date. At February 29, 2024
and February 28, 2023, there were $2,350,604 and $2,569,311, respectively in deferred inflows relating to
subsidies, pension and OPEB inflows.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Compensated Absences – Employees are granted vacation and sick leave in varying amounts based on years of
service with the Authority. At the termination of service, an employee is paid for accumulated unused vacation
leave and sick leave. Sick leave payments are based on age and years of service for both union and non-union
employees. The accrued vacation and sick leave is reported on the Statement of Net Position as accrued
expenses under liabilities.

Long-term Debt – Long-term debt is reported as a liability in the Statement of Net Position. Bond premiums are
deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond
premium.

Income Taxes - The Authority is exempt from Federal and State income taxes.

Regulatory - The Authority sets their own rates and have a public rate hike hearing for the ratepayers to ask
questions and express opinions, however the decision is ultimately that of the Board.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Summarized Financial Information - The financial information for the year February 28, 2023, presented for
comparative purposes is not intended to be a complete financial statement presentation. Certain amounts in the
prior year financial statements may have been reclassified for comparative purposes to conform with the
presentation in the current year financial statements.

Accounting standards that the Authority is currently reviewing for applicability and potential impacts on
future financial statements include -

• GASB Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022, the requirements of this Statement are effective as follows:
The requirements related to extension of the use of LIBOR, accounting for SNAP distributions,
disclosures of nonmonetary transactions, pledges of future revenues by pleading governments,
clarification of certain provisions in Statement 34, as amended, and terminology updates related to
Statement 53 and Statement 63 are effective upon issuance. The requirements relate to leases, PPS, and
SBITAs are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2022, and all reporting periods thereafter.
The requirements related to financial guarantees and the classification and reporting of derivative
instruments within the scope of Statement 53 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2023,
and all reporting periods thereafter. The impact of this standard will be evaluated by the Authority’s
management for fiscal year 2025.

• GASB Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections – an amendment of GASB
Statement No.62, This Statement defines accounting changes as changes in accounting principles,
changes in accounting estimates, and changes to or within the financial reporting entity and describes
the transactions or other events that constitute those changes. As part of those descriptions, for (1)
certain changes in accounting principles and (2) certain changes in accounting estimates that result from
a change in measurement methodology, a new principle or methodology should be justified on the basis
that it is preferable to the principle or methodology used before the change. That preferability should be
based on the qualitative characteristics of financial reporting— understandability, reliability, relevance,
timeliness, consistency, and comparability. This Statement also addresses corrections of errors in
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Accounting standards that the Authority is currently reviewing for applicability and potential impacts on
future financial statements include (continued)–

previously issued financial statements. The impact of this standard will be evaluated by the Authority’s
management for fiscal year 2025.

• GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, This Statement requires that liabilities for
compensated absences be recognized for (1) leave that has not been used and (2) leave that has been
used but not yet paid in cash or settled through noncash means. A liability should be recognized for
leave that has not been used if (a) the leave is attributable to services already rendered, (b) the leave
accumulates, and (c) the leave is more likely than not to be used for time off or otherwise paid in cash or
settled through noncash means. Leave is attributable to services already rendered when an employee has
performed the services required to earn the leave. Leave that accumulates is carried forward from the
reporting period in which it is earned to a future reporting period during which it may be used for time
off or otherwise paid or settled. In estimating the leave that is more likely than not to be used or
otherwise paid or settled, a government should consider relevant factors such as employment policies
related to compensated absences and historical information about the use or payment of compensated
absences. However, leave that is more likely than not to be settled through conversion to defined benefit
postemployment benefits should not be included in a liability for compensated absences. The impact of
this standard will be evaluated by the Authority’s management for fiscal year 2025.
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NOTE 3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The carrying amount of deposits is separately displayed on the Statement of Net Position as “cash and cash
equivalents”. The carrying value of deposits, investments and petty cash funds reported on the Statement of
Net Position as “cash and cash equivalents” are as follows:

Description 2024 2023

Petty cash 634$ 800$
Deposits with financial institutions 520,599 589,983

Total cash and cash equivalents 521,233$ 590,783$

Essential risk information regarding the Authority's deposits and investments is presented below.

The carrying amount of the Authority’s deposits at February 29, 2024 was $521,233 and the bank balance
was $633,833.

Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of the failure of a
depository financial institution, the Authority will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to
recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. As of February 29, 2024, all of the
authority’s funds were either FDIC insured or under a collateralization agreement.

2024 2023
Bank Bank

Balance Balance

Insured (Federal depository insurance funds) 257,861$ 273,545$
Collateralized 375,973 329,294
Uninsured   0   0

Total bank balance 633,833$ 602,839$

The commercial paper had credit ratings of AA-/Aa1 by Standard & Poor's and Moody's at both February 29,
2024 and February 28, 2023.
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NOTE 4. INVESTMENTS

In accordance with the Authority's investment policy, permitted investments include government obligations,
bonds, notes or other investments wholly-owned by the United States of America, obligations issued by any
state or any public agencies or municipalities which are rated in either of the two highest rating categories by
Moody or Standard & Poor, commercial paper under the laws of any state of the United States of America rated
A-1 by Moody or P-1 by Standard & Poor, investments in money market fund or other fund invested exclusively
of obligations described above. At February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2022, the Authority's uncollateralized
deposits had maturities of less than ninety (90) days and were with an institution that met the minimum capital
standards.

At February 29, 2024, the Authority had the following investments classified as funds held by trustee:

Description Maturity Interest Rate Fair Value Rating

U.S Bank NA
Commercial Paper 3/1/2024 0.2% 10,875,079$ Aa1, AA-

At February 28, 2023, the Authority had the following investments classified as funds held by trustee:

Description Maturity Interest Rate Fair Value Rating

U.S Bank NA
Commercial Paper 3/1/2023 0.2% 13,814,478$ Aa1, AA-

Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Authority's
deposits may not be returned to it. The Authority does not have a deposit or investment policy for custodial
credit risk.

Interest Rate Risk - It is the policy of the Authority to limit the length of its investment maturities in order to
manage the exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing changing rates.

Credit Risk - Government Money Market is not a rated security, as the fund invests in short-term obligations
issued by the U.S. Treasury and invests in repurchase agreements and other instruments collateralized or secured
by U.S. Treasury obligations. The U.S. Treasury does not directly or indirectly insure or guarantee the
performance of the fund. Treasury obligations have historically involved minimal risk of loss if held to maturity.
However, fluctuations in market interest rates may cause the value of Treasury obligations in the Fund's
portfolio to fluctuate.

Concentration of Credit Risk - The Authority does not have a formal policy that limits the amount that may be
invested in any one issuer. The U.S. Bank NA Commercial Paper represents 100% of the Authority's
investments.

For the purposes of the statements of cash flows, the Authority considers only cash balances in its operating
cash accounts as cash. Cash and investment funds held by trustee are not considered cash equivalents due to
restrictions on the use of the funds.
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NOTE 4. INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

Pension trust fund and OPEB trust fund investments had carrying amounts at fiscal year-end were as follows:

2024 2023
Pension (as of June 30,

2023 and 2022) 3,692,862$ 3,293,332$
OPEB 1,614,536 1,279,534

5,307,398$ 4,572,866$

The Plan categorizes their fair market value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. According to the GASB 72 fair value hierarchy provides the following definition
for the three levels of input data for determining the fair value of an asset or liability:

Level 1: represents quoted prices for identical items in active, liquid and visible markets (i.e. Stock
exchanges).
Level 2: represents observable information for similar items in active or inactive markets (i.e. two
similarly situated buildings in the same real estate market).
Level 3: represents unobservable inputs to be used in situations where markets do not exist or are illiquid
(i.e. Credit crisis).

The Plan has the following recurring fair value measurements as of February 29, 2024:

Quoted Prices
in Active Markets Significant Significant

Markets for Other Observable Unobservable
February 29, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

2024 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Investments by Fair Value Level
Mutual Funds

Fixed Income 455,492$ 455,492$ $ 0 $ 0
Equity 930,603 930,603 0 0

Short Term Investment 228,441 0 228,441 0

Total investments measured at fair value 1,614,536$ 1,386,095$ 228,441$ $ 0

Fair Value Measurements
OPEB

Quoted Prices
in Active Markets Significant Significant

Markets for Other Observable Unobservable
June 30, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

2023 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Investments by Fair Value Level
Mutual Funds

Fixed Income 836,284$ 836,284$ $ 0 $ 0
Equity 2,598,456 2,598,456 0 0

Short Term Investment 258,122 0 258,122 0

Total investments measured at fair value 3,692,862$ 3,434,740$ 258,122$ $ 0

Fair Value Measurements
Pension
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NOTE 5. FUNDS HELD BY TRUSTEE (RESTRICTED NET POSITION)

Pursuant to the Bristol County Water Authority Bond Resolutions (Bond Resolutions) adopted November 13,
1986, and as amended, certain restricted funds that the Authority is required to maintain can be used only for the
purposes specified in the Bond Resolution. Furthermore, the Authority is required to establish water rates so that
net revenues, as defined in the Bond Resolution, shall equal at least the required debt service ratio of 1.25 during
the fiscal year.

The assets of these funds are pledged as security for the bonds. Restricted assets at fiscal year end are as follows:

Restricted For: 2024 2023

Debt service fund 1,356,872$ 1,278,075$
Operations and maintenance reserve fund 1,750,000 1,750,000
Debt service reserve fund 2022A 839,297 801,180
Debt service reserve fund 2021A 706,539 674,452
Debt service reserve fund 2019A 1,478,881 1,411,718
Debt service reserve fund 2018A 502,578 479,753
Debt service reserve fund 2018B 288,165 275,078
Debt service reserve fund 2014A 102,590 97,931
Debt service reserve fund 2012B 0 51,459
Debt service reserve fund 2011 77,970 74,429
Debt service reserve fund 2008 434,379 414,652
Project Fund 2019A 12 12

Project Fund 2022A 3,337,796 6,505,740

Total 10,875,079$ 13,814,478$

Restricted Assets/Net Position on Balance Sheet: 10,875,079$ 13,814,478$
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NOTE 5. FUNDS HELD BY TRUSTEE (CONTINUED)

The funds held by the trustee are invested in cash and long and short-term securities that meet the requirements of
the Bond Resolution for permitted investments. These investments include money market accounts and
commercial paper. These funds are generally collateralized with securities held by the trustee's trust department
and are generally uninsured and unregistered securities held by the trustee's trust department as agent for the
Authority. The fair value of investments at fiscal year ends were as follows:

2024 2023

Commercial paper 10,875,079$ 13,814,478$
Total 10,875,079$ 13,814,478$

NOTE 6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Capital asset activity during the year ended February 29, 2024 was as follows:

Balance at Balance at
February 28, February 29,

2023 Reclassed Additions Disposals Transfers 2024
Non-Depreciable

Land 3,274,221$ 2,020,265$ $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 2,020,265$
Depreciable

Treatment, storage and admin facilities 9,760,018 9,760,018 224,776 0 0 9,984,794
Distribution system 99,000,154 100,254,110 4,079,604 0 0 104,333,714
Equipment 12,172,502 12,172,502 112,095 0 0 12,284,597

Capital assets in service 124,206,895 124,206,895 4,416,475 0 0 128,623,370

Construction in progress 4,202,980 4,202,980 1,479,966 1,489,979 0 4,192,967

Total capital assets 128,409,875 128,409,875 5,896,441 1,489,979 0 132,816,337

Accumulated depreciation (35,439,566) (35,439,566) (2,423,975) 0 0 (37,863,541)

Net capital assets 92,970,309$ 92,970,309$ 3,472,466$ 1,489,979$ $ 0 94,952,797$
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NOTE 6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Capital asset activity during the year ended February 28, 2023 was as follows:

Balance at Balance at
February 28, February 28,

2022 Reclassed Additions Disposals Transfers 2023
Non-Depreciable

Land and improvements 3,274,221$ 2,020,265$ $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 2,020,265$
Depreciable

Treatment, storage and admin faci 9,734,485 9,406,185 25,533 0 328,300 9,760,018
Distribution system 90,557,796 86,667,268 8,442,358 0 5,144,484 100,254,110
Equipment 12,125,841 12,125,841 46,661 0 0 12,172,502

Capital assets in service 115,692,343 110,219,559 8,514,552 0 5,472,784 124,206,895

Construction in progress 7,040,829 7,040,829 0 2,837,849 - 4,202,980

Total capital assets 122,733,172 117,260,388 8,514,552 2,837,849 0 128,409,875

Accumulated depreciation (33,281,711) (2,157,855) (2,157,855) 0 0 (35,439,566)

Net capital assets 89,451,461 115,102,533 6,356,697 2,837,849 $ 0 92,970,309

NOTE 7. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, ACCRUED EXPENSES, CUSTOMER DEPOSITS AND
OTHER PAYABLES

The major components of accounts payable, accrued expenses and customer deposits as of fiscal year ends were
as follows:

2024 2023

Supplier 567,380 298,145$
Wages and withholding 352,745 373,734
Taxes 8,703 7,430
Audit 22,000 21,000
Water protection charges 12,834 12,390
Customer deposits 427,296 413,675
Other 494,204 142,544

Total 1,885,162$ 1,268,918$
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NOTE 8. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

The Authority issues revenue bonds and applies for loans to support various projects. The following is a summary of the Bond and Loan activity for the
fiscal year ends were as follows:

Outstanding
Balance Principle Balance Balance Interest Paid in

March 1, 2023 Increases Decreases Refunding Forgiveness February 29, 2024 Due in 2025 2024
Bonds Payable- Direct Borrowing

General Revenue Bond. Series 2018A 2,641,709$ $ 0 459,971$ $ 0 $ 0 2,181,737$ 475,489$ 80,815$
General Revenue Bond. Series 2019A 14,771,000 0 1,112,000 0 0 13,659,000 1,133,000 259,139
General Revenue Refunding Bond, Series 2021A 4,030,000 0 1,330,000 0 0 2,700,000 1,345,000 37,246
General Revenue Bond, Series 2022A 12,000,000 0 450,000 0 0 11,550,000 465,000 333,720

Total Bonds Payable 33,442,709$ $ 0 3,351,971$ $ 0 $ 0 30,090,737$ 3,418,489$ 710,920$

Loans Payable- Direct Borrowing
Drinking Water Revolving Bond, Series 2008A 2,393,000 0 303,000 0 0 2,090,000 314,000 79,541
Drinking Water SRF- Direct Loan, Series 2011 531,000 0 50,000 0 0 481,000 52,000 20,220
Drinking Water SRF- Direct Loan, Series 2012B 0 0 0 0   0  0    0 0
Safe Drinking Water Program, Series 2014 912,554 0 76,000 0 12,326 848,881 65,348 29,695
Drinking Water SRF, Series 2018 3,246,100 0 159,800 0 0 3,086,300 164,100 104,574

Total Loans Payable 7,082,654 0 588,800 0 12,326 6,506,181 595,448 234,030

Total Debt 40,525,363$ $ 0 3,940,771$ $ 0 12,326$ 36,596,918$ 4,013,937$ 944,950$
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NOTE 8. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Outstanding
Balance Principle Balance Balance Interest Paid in

March 1, 2022 Increases Decreases Refunding Forgiveness February 28, 2023 Due in 2024 2023
Bonds Payable- Direct Borrowing

General Revenue Bond. Series 2018A 3,086,476$ $ 0 444,767$ $ 0 $ 0 2,641,709$ 459,973$ 95,856$
General Revenue Bond. Series 2019A 15,863,000 0 1,092,000 0 0 14,771,000 1,112,000 279,230
General Revenue Refunding Bond, Series 2021A 5,350,000 0 1,320,000 0 0 4,030,000 1,330,000 51,531
General Revenue Bond, Series 2022A 0 12,000,000 0 0 0 12,000,000 450,000 323,520

Total Bonds Payable 24,299,476$ 12,000,000$ 2,856,767$ -$ -$ 33,442,709$ 3,351,973$ 750,137$

Loans Payable- Direct Borrowing
Drinking Water Revolving Bond, Series 2008A 2,684,000 0 291,000 0 0 2,393,000 303,000 90,972
Drinking Water SRF- Direct Loan, Series 2011 580,000 0 49,000 0 0 531,000 50,000 21,985
Drinking Water SRF- Direct Loan, Series 2012B 55,000 0 55,000 0 0  0        0 677
Safe Drinking Water Program, Series 2014 974,551 0 74,000 0 12,003 912,554 63,672 31,379
Drinking Water SRF, Series 2018 3,402,100 0 156,000 0 0 3,246,100 159,800 108,626

Total Loans Payable 7,695,651 0 625,000 0 12,003 7,082,654 576,472 253,639

Total Debt 31,995,127$ 12,000,000$ 3,481,767$ $ 0 12,003$ 40,525,363$ 3,928,445$ 1,003,776$
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NOTE 8. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Bonds payable

In December 1995, the Authority issued a 1995 Series A General Revenue Bond (the "1995 Bonds") with a face value
of $17,790,000. The net proceeds of approximately $17.3 million (after bond issue costs and discount) were used to
refund the 1986 Series A General Revenue Bond (the "1986 Bonds") with an outstanding principal balance of
$16,950,000 (plus accrued interest).

The refunding resulted in a difference between the redemption price, which includes a 3% call premium and the net
carrying amount of the old debt of approximately $1.1 million. The Authority completed the refunding to reduce its
total debt service payments by $3.8 million over the next 20 years and to obtain an economic gain (difference
between the present values of the old and new debt service payments) of $2.1 million.

In July 1997, the Authority issued a 1997 Series A General Revenue Bond (the "1997 Bonds") with a face value of
$12,195,000. The net proceeds of approximately $11,900,000 (after bond issue costs and discount) were used to
complete the construction of the East Bay Pipeline and Emergency Connection projects and other distribution
improvements.

In August 1998, the Authority issued a 1998 Series A General Revenue Bond (the "1998 Bonds") with a face value of
$6,090,000. The net proceeds of approximately $5,881,000 (after bond issue costs and premium) were used to
complete the construction of the East Bay Pipeline and Emergency Connection projects and other distribution
improvements.

In November 2004, the Authority issued a 2004 Refunding Series A General Bond (the "2004 Bonds") with a face
value of $11,295,000. The net proceeds of approximately $11 million (after bond issue costs and premium) were used
to refund part of the 1995 Series A General Revenue Bond (the "1995 Bonds") with an outstanding principal balance
of $10,695,000 (plus accrued interest).

The refunding resulted in a difference between the redemption price, which includes a 2% call premium and the net
carrying amount of the old debt of approximately $474,600. The Authority completed the refunding to reduce its total
debt service payments by $798,920 over the next 12 years and to obtain an economic gain (difference between the
present values of the old and new debt service payments) of $603,402.

In August 2012, the Authority issued a 2012 Refunding Series A General Bond (the "2012A Bonds") with a face
value of $6,735,000. The net proceeds of approximately $6,665,000 (after bond issue costs) were used to refund the
1997 Series A (the "1997 Bonds") and 1998 Series A (the "1998 Bonds") General Revenue Bonds with combined
outstanding principal balances of $6,600,000 (plus accrued interest).

The Authority completed the refunding to reduce its total debt service payments by $525,617 over the next six years
and to obtain an economic gain (difference between the present values of the old and new debt service payments) of
$512,451. As of end of fiscal year 2019, the Authority has completed the payment for the 2012 Refunding Series A
General Bond (the “2012A Bonds”).

In September 2014, the Authority issued a 2014 Series B General Bond (the "2014B Bonds") with a face value of
$8,355,000. The net proceeds of approximately $8,301,000 (after bond issue costs) will be used to complete future
capital improvements. Interest on the 2014B Bond is paid semi-annually on March 1 and September 1. Principal
payments are made annually on September 1. As of fiscal year 2021, the Authority has completed the payment for the
2014 B Bonds as way of refinance.
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NOTE 8. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Bonds payable (continued)

In June 2018, the Authority issued a 2018 Series A General Revenue Bond (the “2018A Bonds”) with a face
value of $4,600,000. The net proceeds of approximately $4,535,000 (after bond issue costs) will be used to
complete capital improvements. Of the approximate total after bond issuance costs, $460,000 of the total will be
placed into a Debt Service Reserve Fund. Principal and interest on the 2018A bonds are paid on a monthly basis
on the first. Principal and interest payments on the 2018A Bonds outstanding at February 29, 2024 are $459,971
and $80,815, respectively and an outstanding principal balance of $2,181,737.

In September 2019, the Authority issued a 2019 Series A General Revenue Bond (the “2019A Bonds”) with a
face value of $18,000,000. The net proceeds of approximately $17,935,000 of which $1,382,113 is placed into a
Debt Service Reserve Fund, is to be used for the repairs and improvements of the water main that suffered a
major break in FY 2019. Interest on the 2019A Bond is paid semiannually on March 1 and September 1.
Principal payments are made annually on September 1. Principal and interest payments as of February 29, 2024
are $1,112,000 and $259,139, respectively with a principal balance of $13,659,000.

In January 2021, the Authority issued a 2021 Series A General Revenue Refunding Bonds (the “2021A Bonds”)
with a face value of $6,660,000. The net proceeds of $6,510,000 refinanced 2014B bond. Interest on the 2021A
Bond is paid semiannually on January 15 and July 15. Principal payments are made annually on January 15.
Principal and interest payments as of February 29, 2024 are 1,330,000 and 37,246, respectively, with a principal
balance of $2,700,000.

In March 2022, the Authority issued a 2022 Series A General Revenue Bond (the “2022A Bond”) with a face
value of $12,000,000. Interest is paid semiannually on April 1 and October 1. Principal payments are made
annually on April 1. Principal and interest payments as of February 29, 2024 are $450,000 and $333,720,
respectively, with a principal balance of $11,550,000.
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NOTE 8. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Bonds payable (continued)

The annual debt service requirements of the general long-term bonds payable as of February 29, 2024 are as
follows:

Fiscal Year Ended February 28: Principal Interest Total

2025 3,418,507$ 667,309$ 4,085,816$
2026 3,474,951 603,629 4,078,580
2027 2,172,769 538,845 2,711,614
2028 2,227,161 485,723 2,712,884

2029 1,916,349 434,790 2,351,139
2030-2035 16,881,000 2,461,022 19,342,022

30,090,737$ 5,191,318$ 35,282,055$

Bonds from Direct Borrowings

The Authority’s outstanding notes from direct borrowings relate to business-type activities of $30,090,737 are
secured by the Authority’s pledge of the proceeds of the bonds, revenues, securities, receivables, sale of
Authority’s real property, exclusive of monies collected as water quality protection charges, and other amounts
in all funds and accounts established by or pursuant to the General Bond Resolutions, except the General Fund
and the Rebate Fund.

The Authority must meet certain financial covenants. The Authority was in compliance with all such covenants
at the fiscal year end.
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NOTE 8. LONG-TERM OBLIGATION (CONTINUED)

Loans payable

In June 2008, the Authority obtained a twenty-one year (21), $5,500,000 loan from Rhode Island Infrastructure
Bank. There were no drawdowns in the Fiscal Year. Interest on the loan payable is paid semi-annually on
September 1 and March 1. Principal payments are made annually on September 1. Principal and interest
payments outstanding under the loan agreement as of February 29, 2024 are $2,090,000 and $242,884,
respectively.

In October 2011, the Authority obtained a twenty-year (20), $1,000,000 loan from Rhode Island Infrastructure
Bank. There were no drawdowns in the Fiscal Year. Interest on the loan payable is paid semi-annually on
September 1 and March 1. Principal payments are made annually on September 1. Principal and interest
payments outstanding under the loan agreement as of February 29, 2024 are $481,000 and $92,622 respectively.

In November 2012, the Authority obtained a ten-year (10), $500,000 loan from Rhode Island Infrastructure
Bank of which there were no drawdowns in the Fiscal Year. Interest on the loan payable is paid semi-annually
on September 1 and March 1. Principal payments are made annually on September 1. As of February 28, 2023,
this loan has been paid off completely.

In August 2014, the Authority obtained a twenty-year (21), $1,643,232 loan from Rhode Island Infrastructure
Bank of which there were no drawdowns in the Fiscal Year. This loan includes principal forgiveness of
$266,540 resulting in a net direct loan of $1,376,692. Interest on the loan payable is paid semi-annually on
September 1 and March 1. Principal payments are made annually on September 1. Net Principal and interest
payments outstanding under the loan agreement as of February 29, 2024 are $848,881 and $188,532
respectively. This Debt also has $176,678 total in loan forgiveness.

In November 2018, the Authority obtained a twenty-year (20), $3,850,000 loan from Rhode Island Infrastructure
Bank of which a total of $3,200,816 was drawn down as of February 28, 2021. This loan includes principal
forgiveness of $295,500 resulting in a net direct loan of $3,554,500. Interest on the loan payable is paid semi-
annually on March 1 and September 1. Principal payments are made annually on September 1. Principal and
interest payments outstanding under the loan agreement as of February 29, 2024 are $3,086,300 and $907,355
respectively.

The annual debt service requirements of the loans payable as of February 29, 2024 are as follows:

Year Ended February 28, Principal Interest & Fees Total
2025 595,447$ 224,312$ 819,759$
2026 616,524 203,458 819,982
2027 638,737 181,746 820,483
2028 660,413 158,652 819,065
2029 686,226 134,290 820,516

2030-2038 3,308,834 528,932 3,837,766
6,506,181$ 1,431,390$ 7,937,571$
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NOTE 9. LINE OF CREDIT

The Authority maintains a loan agreement (Agreement) with Washington Trust Bank. Such Agreement includes
a revolving line of credit with maximum available borrowings of $150,000. Interest is payable monthly at the
adjusted term SOFR at the 1st of the month plus 2.61% (7.963% at February 1, 2024). At February 29, 2024 and
2023, the outstanding balance on the line was $0 and $0, respectively.

NOTE 10. PENSION PLAN

Plan Description

(a) Plan Administration

The Bristol County Water Authority (BCWA) administers the Pension Plan (Plan) for employees of the BCWA,
a single employer defined benefit pension plan that provides pensions for employees of the BCWA who were
hired prior to September 1, 2012. The pension plan is closed to new entrants.

(b) Benefits Provided

The Plan for employees of the BCWA provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Retirement benefits
for plan members are calculated at 1.85% of the member's final 5-year average salary times the member's years
of service to a maximum of 25 years plus 0.7 percent of the member's final 5-year average salary times the
member's years of service in excess of 25 years. Members are eligible to retire at age 65, or at 62 with 20 years
of service, at age 61 with 19 years of service or at 64 with 17 years of service. All plan members are eligible for
disability benefits after 10 years of service. Disability retirement benefits are calculated as 1.15% of the
members final 5-year average salary times the member's years of service. Death benefits are payable to the
surviving spouse of a member who dies at after 10 years of service. A plan member who leaves BCWA after 5
years of service is vested in their benefit earned to date of termination.

(c) Plan Membership

At June 30, 2023, pension plan membership consisted of the following:

Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 8
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 3
Active plan members 6

Subtotal 17

(d) Contributions

The BCWA establishes contribution rates based on an actuarially determined rate recommended by an
independent actuary. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of
benefits expected to be earned by plan members during the year with an additional amount to finance any
actuarial gains or losses over the compensation weighted average future working life of active members.  For the
year ended June 30, 2023 (i.e. the measurement date), the actuarially determined contribution was $176,088 and
the actual contribution was $223,150.
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NOTE 10. PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Accounting

The Plan’s statement of fiduciary net position and statement of change in fiduciary net position are prepared
using the accrual basis of accounting and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles that apply
to governmental accounting for defined benefit plans. These are included in this financial statement in fiduciary
net position as outlined in the Table of Contents. Employer contributions are recognized when made, because
there are no required due dates for contributions. Other additions are recognized when due. Benefits and refunds
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plan document. Plan expenses, other
than benefits and refunds are recognized on the accrual basis in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles.

(b) Plan Expenses

Certain expenses are paid from the assets of the Plan and are recorded as administrative expenses on the
financial statements. These expenses include benefit payment processing fees and other administrative expenses.

(c) Fair Value of Investments

Investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on a national or international exchange are valued at the
last reported sales price at current exchange rates.

(d) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires the Plan’s management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and changes therein, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the
actuarial values at the date of the financial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Investments

(a) Investment Policy

The pension plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the
BCWA. It is the policy of the BCWA board to pursue an investment strategy that reduces risk through the
prudent diversification of the portfolio across a broad selection of distinct asset classes. The pension plan's
investment policy discourages the use of cash equivalents, except for liquidity purposes, and aims to refrain
from dramatically shifting asset class allocations over short time spans.
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NOTE 10. PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED)

Investments (Continued)

(a) Investment Policy (Continued)

The following was the BCWA's adopted asset allocation policy as of June 30, 2023:

Target Long-term Expected
Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return

Stocks and equity mutual funds 70% 7.06%
Fixed income mutual funds 23% 2.65%
Cash 7% 0.50%

Total 100%

(b) Rate of Return

For the year ended June 30, 2023 the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments, net of
pension plan investment expenses, was 11.51%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

Net Pension Liability of the BCWA

The components of the net pension liability of the BCWA at June 30, 2023, were as follows:

Total pension liability 4,177,330$

Plan fiduciary net position (3,692,862)
BCWA's net pension liability (asset) 484,468$

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage
of the total pension liability 88.40%

2405400_Financial_045 Page 45 03-Jul-24

Black

268

Item K2.



BRISTOL COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY

Notes to the Financial Statements

Years Ended February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023

39

NOTE 10. PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED)

Net Pension Liability of the BCWA (Continued)

(a) Actuarial assumptions

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2023, using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.00 percent
Salary increases 3.00 percent, compounded annually
Investment rate of return 7.50 percent, net of pension plan investment

expense, including inflation

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Employee Mortality Table for Males or Females, as appropriate,
with adjustments for future mortality improvement using Mortality Improvement Scale MP-2014. The long-term
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which
best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment
expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-
term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major
asset class included in the pension plan’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 2023 (see the discussion of the
pension plan’s investment policy) are summarized in the following table:

Target Long-Term Expected Weighted Real
Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return Rate of Return

Domestic equity 58% 7.0% 4.06%
International equity 8% 7.5% 0.60%
Fixed income 28% 3.5% 0.98%
Short term investments 6% 2.0% 0.12%
Cash 0% 0.0% 0.00%

Total 100% 5.76%
Investment Expense -1.00%
Inflation 2.00%
Total Calculated Rate 6.76%

Long-Term Rate of Return Assumption 7.50%

Merit and Productivity Pay Increases 1.00%
Inflation 2.00%

Salary Increase Assumption 3.00%
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NOTE 10. PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED)

Net Pension Liability of the BCWA (Continued)

(b) Discount rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.50 percent. The projection of cash flows used
to determine the discount rate assumed that plan participant contributions will be made at the current
contribution rate and that BCWA contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially
determined contribution rates and the participant rate. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary
net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Total Pension
Liability

Plan Fiduciary
Net Position

Net Pension
Liability

(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balance as of 7/01/2022 4,116,603$ 3,293,332$ 823,271$

Changes for the year:
Service cost 42,839 0 42,839
Interest on total pension liability 304,311 0 304,311
Differences between expected and actual experience 64,539 0 64,539
Changes in assumptions (147,042) - (147,042)
Contributions - employer 0 223,150 (223,150)
Net investment income 0 380,300 (380,300)
Benefit payments (203,920) (203,920) 0

     Net changes 60,727 399,530 (338,803)

Balance as of 6/30/2023 4,177,330$ 3,692,862$ 484,468$
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NOTE 10. PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED)

Net Pension Liability of the BCWA (Continued)

(c) Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the BCWA, calculated using the discount rate of 7.50 percent,
as well as what the BCWA's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-
percentage-point lower (6.50 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.50 percent) than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount 1% Increase

6.50% Rate (7.50%) 8.50%

Plan's Net Pension Liability (Asset) 734,171$ 484,468$ 260,167$

(d) Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended February 29, 2024, the BCWA recognized pension expense of $276,369. At February 29,
2024, the BCWA reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
from the following sources:

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience 75,512$ $ 0

Changes in assumptions 0 (73,521)

Difference between projected and actual earnings on
plan investments 589,119 (394,306)

Total deferred outflows / (inflows) 664,631$ (467,827)$

Net deferred outflows/deferred infows 196,804$

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be
recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended February 29:
2025 63,003$
2026 8,098
2027 152,218
2028 (26,515)
2029 0

Thereafter 0

196,804$
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NOTE 11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Payment in Lieu of Taxes

The Authority has entered into an agreement with the Towns of Bristol County providing for annual payments
of $0 and $0 by the Authority in lieu of taxes to the towns for the years ended February 29, 2024 and 2023.For
the fiscal year 2023 through fiscal year 2039, the Authority will make no PILOT payments to the Towns and the
Authority will not charge the Town of Bristol County for public fire protection.

Litigation

The Authority is subject to litigation arising from its normal business operations. In the opinion of management,
and legal counsel, the ultimate disposition of these matters is not expected to have a material adverse effect on
the Authority's combined financial position or results of operations.

Commitment

As of February 29, 2024, and 2023 the Authority had entered into various contracts and had a commitment of
approximately $4,075,532 and $4,065,205, respectively, related to these contracts.

NOTE 12. NET POSITION

Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities. The net position amounts at February 29,
2024 and February 28, 2023 were as follows:

2024 2023
Net investment in capital assets:

Net capital assets in service 94,952,797$ 92,970,309$
Less: bonds and notes payable (36,596,918) (40,525,362)
Less: other capital related liabilities (567,867) (777,036)

Net investment in capital assets 57,788,012 51,667,911

Restricted:
Restricted funds held by trustee 10,875,079 13,814,477

Total restricted 10,875,079 13,814,477

Unrestricted 26,186,746 22,618,410

Total Net Position 94,849,837$ 88,100,798$

Net Investment in Capital Assets

Net investment in capital assets reflects the portion of net position associated with non-liquid capital assets, less
outstanding capital assets related debt. The net investment in capital assets also includes cash or cash
equivalents restricted for the acquisition of capital assets or debt service.
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NOTE 12. NET POSITION (CONTINUED)

Restricted

This category represents external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, contributions, or laws and
regulations of other governments and restrictions imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation.

Unrestricted

This category represents the residual amount of net position not included in the net investment in capital assets
or the restricted categories highlighted above.

NOTE 13. MAJOR SUPPLIER

The Authority's water purchases from one supplier for the years ended February 29, 2024 and 2023 were
approximately 24% and 23%, respectively, of the Authority's operations expense.

NOTE 14. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Plan Description

The cost of post-employment health care benefits, like the cost of pension benefits, generally should be
associated with the periods in which the cost occurs, rather than in future years when it will be paid. In adopting
the requirements of GASB Statement No. 75 during the year ended February 29, 2024, the Authority recognizes
the cost of post-employment healthcare and life insurance in the year when the employee services are rendered,
reports the accumulated liability from prior years, and provides information useful in assessing potential
demands on the Authority's future cash flows.

The Authority's OPEB Plan is a single employer defined benefit postretirement health and life insurance
program. The Authority provides post-employment benefits to eligible retirees in accordance with the various
labor contracts and personnel policies. As of March 1, 2023, 25 active employees were participating in the Plan.
An actuarial consultant, The Angell Pension Group, Inc., was hired to determine the Authority's actuarial
valuation of the post-retirement benefits that are offered to current and future retirees as of February 28, 2010,
which was the first actuarial valuation that the Authority had in determining its OPEB obligation. The actuary,
as of February 29, 2024, has updated the actuarial valuation. The plan does not issue a stand-alone report.

Basis of Accounting

In fiscal year 2014, the Authority established an OPEB trust fund to fund future OPEB liabilities. The OPEB
trust fund financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. Contributions are recognized
when due, pursuant to formal budgetary commitments and contractual requirements. Investment income is
recognized when earned and expenses (benefits and administration) are recognized when they are due and
payable in accordance with the terms of the plan.
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NOTE 14. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Funding Policy

The contribution requirements of plan members and the Authority are established and may be amended by the
Authority, subject to applicable labor contracts. Contributions are recognized when due on a pay-as-you-go
basis, pursuant to formal budgetary commitments and contractual requirements.

Benefit Provisions and Contributions

Eligible retirees receive medical and dental insurance coverage under individual or individual/spouse plans.
Retirees are required to contribute to the cost of health insurance at a co-pay rate of 6% in the first year of
retirement. The co-pay rate gradually increases to 20% by year four of retirement and thereafter. No health
coverage is available to a retiree whose spouse has similar insurance coverage available. If the participant retires
earlier than age 65, or his/her spouse is under the age of 65, the Plan will reimburse the participant for full
medical and dental coverage outside of the Plan under a health insurance plan that provides equivalent coverage
that the Bristol County Water Authority's active health plan would have covered. At age 65, the participants
enter in the Authority's Plan 65 medical coverage.

Surviving spousal coverage ends upon the death of a retired member.

Eligible retirees are covered under a $50,000 life insurance policy until age 65. The benefit is then reduced to
$25,000 until age 70, when the benefit ends. As of December 1, 2012, retirees who have reached age 70 will be
entitled to a $500 stipend per year for the next five years.

Classes of Employees Covered

As of February 29, 2024 (date of the last actuarial valuation) membership data was as follows:

Inactive or
Beneficiaries

Active Receiving
Description Employees Benefits Total

Number 25 30 55

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

The accompanying schedules of employer contributions present trend information about the amounts
contributed to the Plan by employers in comparison to the Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC). The
ADC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost for each
year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed thirty years.
Projections of benefits are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and plan
members) and include the types of benefits in force at the valuation date and the pattern of sharing benefit costs
between the employer and plan members to that point. The projection of benefits for financial reporting
purposes does not explicitly incorporate the potential effects of legal or contractual funding limitations on the
pattern of cost sharing between the employer and plan members in the future. Actuarial calculations reflect a
long-term perspective.
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NOTE 14. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions (Continued)

Consistent with that perspective, actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to
reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets. The annual OPEB
cost was determined as part of the actuarial valuation. Additional information and assumptions used as of the
last actuarial valuation are summarized below:

Notes to Required Supplementary Information:
Actuarial Methods:
Measurement Date: March 1, 2023 for OPEB expense and February 29, 2024 for Net OPEB Liability

Actuarial Cost Method: Costs have been computed in accordance with the Entry Age Actuarial Cost
Method. The service cost is the sume of the service costs for all participants
For a current participant, the individual service cost is (a) the present value of
future benefits as of the participant's entry age divided by (b) the present value
of future compensation as of the partcipant's entry age multiplied by (c) current
compensation. For other than a current active participant, the service cost equal $0.

The accrued liability is the sum of the individual accrued liabilities for all
participants. The individual accrued liability is equal to (d) the present value of
future benefits less (e) the service cost accrual rate multiplies by (f) the present
value of future compensation.

Asset-Valuation Method: For purposes of determining the unfunded actuarial liability, the actuarial value of
assets is equal to the fair market value.

Census Information: Census data as of March 1, 2023 and premium information as of March 1, 2023
were used to calculate the OPEB Expense. Census data and premium information
as of March 1, 2023 were used to calculate the Total OPEB Liability as of March 1, 2023

Actuarial Assumptions:
Discount rate: 4.70% for February 29, 2024

4.77% for February 28, 2023
3.33% for February 28, 2022

Investment Rate of Return: 6.75%

Salary Scale: 3.00%

Healthy Mortality: PubG.H-2010 Employee and Healthy Annuitant with Scale MP-2021
generational improvements (Male/Female)

Disabled Mortality: PubG.H-2010 Disabled Annuitant with Scale MP-2021 generational improvements
(Male/Female)

Health Care Cost Trend Rates:
Medical Costs: Starting at 6.5% grading down using the Getzen model to an ultmate rate of 4.0%

Participation: 100% of eligible future retirees are assumed to elect medical coverage under Plan

Marital Status: 80% of future retirees are assumed to be married and elect family medical
coverage. Female spouses are assumed to be 3 years younger than males.

Retirement Rates: Ranging from 5% at age 55 to 100% at age 70

Aging Assumption: Dental claims costs are assumed to increase by 3.00% per year of age up to age 70
Medical claim costs are assumed to increase range from:
from 3.0% at <70 to 0.0% at 90+
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NOTE 14. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Investment Policy and Rate of Return

The Water District’s policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by
the committee by a majority vote of its members.

For the year ended February 29, 2024 the annual money-weighted rate of return on investment, net of investment
expense, was 15.12%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment
expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

The following was the Authority’s adopted asset allocation policy as of February 29, 2024:

Long-term
Asset Target Expected Real

Asset Class Allocation Allocation Rate of Return
Cash and Receivables 0.00% N/A N/A
Cash and Equivalents 14.00% N/A N/A
Mutual Funds - Fixed Income 28.00% N/A N/A
Mutual Funds - Equity 58.00% N/A N/A
Total 100.00% N/A

Projected Rate of Return*: 6.75%
*The projected rate of return was estimated by the plan sponsor.

Money-Weighted Rate of Return for Fiscal Year Ending 02/29/2024**: 15.12%
**This rate is determined assuming contributions and expenses are paid in the middle of the

plan year.
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NOTE 14. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Changes in Net OPEB Liability

Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability

Balance at March 1, 2023 4,486,679$ 1,279,534$ 3,207,145$

Service cost 174,528 0 174,528
Interest on Total OPEB liability 217,690 0 217,690
Differences between actual and expected experience (84,534) 0 (84,534)
Changes in assumptions 77,438 0 77,438

Benefit payments, including refunds (102,657) (102,657) 0
Trust administrative expenses 0 (10,030) 10,030
Contributions - employer 0 244,309 (244,309)
Contributions - active employees 0 0 0
Net investment income 0 203,380 (203,380)

Net changes 282,465 335,002 (52,537)

Balances at February 29, 2024 4,769,144$ 1,614,536$ 3,154,608$

Increase (Decrease)

Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Authority, as well as what the Authority’s net OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (3.77 percent) or 1-
percentage-point higher (5.77 percent) than the current discount rate:

1% Decrease
(3.70%)

Current discount
rate (4.70%)

1% Increase
(5.70%)

Total OPEB liability 3,799,786$ 3,154,608$ 2,627,908$

Impact of 1% Change in Discount Rate
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NOTE 14. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate(continued)

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Authority, as well as what the Authority’s net OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using health care cost trend rates that are 1-percentage point lower (3.14
percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (5.14 percent) than the current discount rate:

1% Decrease
(5.5%

decreasing to
3.00%)

Current trend
rate (6.5%

decreasing to
4.00%)

1% Increase
(7.5%

decreasing to
5.00%)

Total OPEB liability 2,475,857$ 3,154,608$ 3,997,207$

Impact of 1% Change in Healthcare Trend Rate

Net OPEB Liability

The components of the net OPEB liability of the Authority at February 29, 2024 were as follows:

Total OPEB liability 4,769,144$
Plans fiduciary net position (1,614,536)
Authority's net OPEB liability 3,154,608$

Plan net position as a percentage
of the total OPEB liability -33.85%

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB

For the year ended February 29, 2024 the Authority reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to
OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows Deferred (Inflows)
of Resources of Resources

Difference between expected and actual
experience 20,448$ (522,886)$

Changes of assumptions 466,049 (1,154,612)

Difference between projected and actual
earnings on OPEB plan investments 110,002 (114,449)

Total Deferred Outflows/(Inflows) 596,499$ (1,791,947)$

(1,195,448)$
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NOTE 14. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB (continued)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB
expense as follows:

Year ended February 29:
2025 (193,041)$
2026 (169,238)
2027 (173,962)
2028 (268,589)
2029 (254,476)

Thereafter (136,142)
(1,195,448)$

NOTE 15. DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The Authority offers its employees “The Bristol County Water Authority 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan”
(the Plan) created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The Plan, available to all Authority
employees hired after September 1, 2012, permits them to defer a portion of their salary until future years. The
deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable
emergency. The Authority's Board of Directors is responsible for establishing or amending the Plan’s provisions
and establishing or amending contribution requirements. The defined contribution Plan is currently administered
by Security Benefits.

The Authority is obligated to remit to the administrator an amount equal to 5% of each employee's prior year's
base rate compensation on an annual basis. If an employee contributes 5% or more of their base rate
compensation, the Authority will also match up to 3% of base employee compensation. The Authority's
contribution totaled $219,406 and $207,323 for the years ended February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023,
respectively. Employees are allowed to make contributions to the Plan up to, but not exceeding, the lesser of 33
1/3% of their individual compensation or $18,000 ($24,000 if age 50 or older). Employee contributions to the
Plan for the years ended February 29, 2024 and February 28, 2023 were $126,602 and $124,523, respectively.
The employees pick and manage their selection of a broad range of funds as offered by Security Benefits.
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NOTE 16. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR INDIVIDUAL PENSION AND OTHER
POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT TRUST FUNDS (OPEB)

GAAP requires that all pension and Other Postemployment Trust Funds (OPEB) be combined and presented in
one column in the Fiduciary Funds financial statements and that the individual financial statements for each trust
fund plan are reported in the notes to the financial statements. Provided below are the individual financial
statements for the pension and OPEB plan that are included in the Fiduciary Funds as Pension and Other
Postemployment Benefits Trust funds, comparatively.

2024 2023 2023 2022

Assets
Short term investments 228,441$ 6,287$ 258,122$ 24,397$
Investments, at fair value 1,386,095 1,273,247 3,434,740 3,268,935

Total Assets 1,614,536 1,279,534 3,692,862 3,293,332

Deferred outflows of resources
None   0  0 0 0

Total Deferred outflows of resources 0   0  0 0

Total assets and deferred outflows
of resources 1,614,536 1,279,534 3,692,862 3,293,332

Liabilities
None   0  0 0 0

Total liabilities 0   0  0  0

Deferred inflows of resources
None   0  0 0 0

Total deferred inflows of resources 0 0 0 0

Net Position
Restricted- OPEB benefits 1,614,536 1,279,534 0 0
Restricted- Pension benefits 0 0 3,692,862 3,293,332

Total net position 1,614,536 1,279,534 3,692,862 3,293,332

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and net position 1,614,536$ 1,279,534$ 3,692,862$ 3,293,332$

OPEB Trust Fund
Pension Trust Fund (as of

June 30)

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
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NOTE 16. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR INDIVIDUAL PENSION AND OTHER
POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT TRUST FUNDS (OPEB) (CONTINUED)

2024 2023 2023 2022

Additions
Contributions
Employer contributions 244,309$ 217,416$ 223,150$ 100,000$

Total contributions 244,309 217,416 223,150 100,000

Investment Income
Net Investment Income 203,380 205,091 380,300 (540,851)

Total investment income 203,380 205,091 380,300 (540,851)

Total additions 447,689 422,507 603,450 (440,851)

Deductions
Administration fees 10,030 9,026 - 41,744
Actual and service benefits payments 102,657 101,620 203,920 613,413

Total deductions 112,687 110,646 203,920 655,157

Change in net position 335,002 311,861 399,530 (1,096,008)

Net position - March 1, 2023 1,279,534 967,673 3,293,332 4,389,340

Net position - February 29, 2024 1,614,536$ 1,279,534$ 3,692,862$ 3,293,332$

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

OPEB Trust Fund
Pension Trust Fund (as of

June 30)
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NOTE 17. RECLASSIFICATION

The following reclassification was completed in for the fiscal year 2024:

Reclassification of Asset Classes
February 28, 2023 March 1, 2023

Non-Depreciable Capital Asset
Land and land improvements 3,274,221$ 2,020,265$

Depreciable Capital Assets
Treatment, storage and admin facilities 9,734,485$ 9,760,018$
Distribution system 90,557,796 100,254,110
Equipment 12,125,841 12,172,502

115,692,343$ 124,206,895$

NOTE 18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management has evaluated subsequent events through June 21, 2024, the date the financial statements were to
be issued.
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Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
Schedule of Changes in the Authority's Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios

Fiscal Year Ending 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Total pension liability
Service cost 42,839$ 42,839$ 42,825$ 50,344$ 84,412$ 79,150$ 104,910$ 164,052$ 165,962$ 195,345$
Interest 304,311 297,541 330,077 370,531 398,672 400,373 429,481 473,937 457,069 418,247
Differences between expected and actual experience 64,539 158,559 268,235 46,960 (53,738) 104,028 (1,073) (52,783) 186,447 113,788
Changes of assumptions (147,042) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 418,440 328,009
Benefit payments, including refunds of participant contributions (203,920) (613,413) (1,536,533) (462,851) (1,078,149) (144,836) (1,646,500) (591,117) (1,017,891) (32,262)

Net change in total pension liability 60,727 (114,474) (895,396) 4,984 (648,803) 438,715 (1,113,182) (5,911) 210,027 1,023,127

Total pension liability - beginning 4,116,603 4,231,077 5,126,473 5,121,489 5,770,292 5,331,577 6,444,759 6,450,670 6,240,643 5,217,516

Total pension liability - ending 4,177,330$ 4,116,603$ 4,231,077$ 5,126,473$ 5,121,489$ 5,770,292$ 5,331,577$ 6,444,759$ 6,450,670$ 6,240,643$

Pension fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer 223,150$ 100,000$ 278,000$ 325,000$ 409,000$ 467,000$ 582,000$ 350,000$ 405,081$ 275,000$
Contributions - employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net investment income 380,300 (540,851) 1,124,757 103,907 205,023 413,208 494,351 (190,089) 369,331 641,659
Benefit payments, including refunds of participant contributions (203,920) (613,413) (1,536,533) (462,851) (1,078,149) (144,836) (1,646,500) (591,117) (1,017,891) (32,262)
Administrative expense 0 0 0 (7,800) (8,300) (8,300) (8,150) (6,420) (6,815) (7,979)

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 399,530 (1,054,264) (133,776) (41,744) (472,426) 727,072 (578,299) (437,626) (250,294) 876,418

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 3,293,332 4,347,596 4,481,372 4,523,116 4,995,542 4,268,470 4,846,769 5,284,395 5,534,689 4,658,271

Plan fiduciary net position - ending 3,692,862$ 3,293,332$ 4,347,596$ 4,481,372$ 4,523,116$ 4,995,542$ 4,268,470$ 4,846,769$ 5,284,395$ 5,534,689$

BCWA's net pension liability (asset) - ending 484,468$ 823,271$ (116,519)$ 645,101$ 598,373$ 774,750$ 1,063,107$ 1,597,990$ 1,166,275$ 705,954$

** - Per paragraph 138 of GASB Statement No. 68, the Authority is not required to retrospectively present its’ 10-year RSI schedules, as this information was not available at transition and
historical information was not measured in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 68.
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Total pension liability 4,177,330$ 4,116,603$ 4,231,077$ 5,126,473$ 5,121,489$ 5,770,292$ 5,331,577$ 6,444,759$ 6,450,670$ 6,240,643$
Plan fiduciary net position (3,692,862) (3,293,332) (4,347,596) 4,481,372 4,523,116 4,995,542 4,268,470 4,846,769 5,284,395 5,534,689

BCWA's net pension liability (asset) 484,468$ 823,271$ (116,519)$ 645,101$ 598,373$ 774,750$ 1,063,107$ 1,597,990$ 1,166,275$ 705,954$

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of
the total pension liability 88.40% 80.00% 102.75% 87.42% 88.32% 86.57% 80.06% 75.20% 81.92% 88.69%

Covered-employee payroll 462,185$ 503,778$ 603,323$ 858,466$ 1,078,697$ 1,231,521$ 1,180,179$ 1,450,870$ 1,567,423$ 1,964,651$

Net pension liability as a percentage
of covered-employee payroll 104.82% 163.42% -19.31% 75.15% 55.47% 62.91% 90.08% 110.14% 74.41% 35.93%

** - Per paragraph 138 of GASB Statement No. 68, the Authority is not required to retrospectively present its’ 10-year RSI schedules, as this information was not available at transition and
historical information was not measured in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 68.
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Schedule of Authority's Contributions

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Actuarially determined contribution 176,088$ 26,353$ 213,045$ 249,122$ 326,836$ 368,310$ 342,076$ 272,873$ 271,574$ 336,370$
Contributions in relation to the

actuarially determined contribution 223,150 100,000 278,000 325,000 409,000 467,000 582,000 350,000 405,081 275,000

Contribution deficiency (excess) (47,062)$ (73,647)$ (64,955)$ (75,878)$ (82,164)$ (98,690)$ (239,924)$ (77,127)$ (133,507)$ 61,370$

Covered-employee payroll 462,185$ 503,778$ 606,323$ 858,466$ 1,078,697$ 1,231,521$ 1,180,179$ 1,450,870$ 1,567,423$ 1,964,651$

Contributions as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll 48.28% 19.85% 45.85% 37.86% 37.92% 37.92% 49.31% 24.12% 25.84% 14.00%

** - Per paragraph 138 of GASB Statement No. 68, the Authority is not required to retrospectively present its’ 10-year RSI schedules, as this information was not available at transition and
historical information was not measured in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 68.
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Schedule of Investment Returns
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Annual money-weighted rate of return,
net of investment expense 11.51% -13.22% 29.20% 2.90% 5.76% 9.21% 12.30% -3.13% 7.34% 13.41%

** - Per paragraph 138 of GASB Statement No. 68, the Authority is not required to retrospectively present its’ 10-year RSI schedules, as this information was not available at transition and
historical information was not measured in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 68.
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Schedule of Pension Related Notes

Notes to the Schedule:

Valuation Date:

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of June 30, 2023.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Method
Asset Method Market Value of Assets
Discount rate 7.50%
Expected long term rate of return 7.50%
Retirement age Normal retirement age 65
Normal form Life annuity
Assumed payment form and valuation Lump sum valued at 5% discount rate post retirement

and unisex mortality
Annual pay increases 3.00%, compounded annually
Inflation 2.00%
Mortality Rates:

Healthy RP-2014 Mortality Table without adjustment, with generational
improvement Scale MP-2014 applied from 2006

Disabled RP-2014 Mortality Table without adjustment, with generational
improvement Scale MP-2014 applied from 2006

Lump sum RP-2014 Mortality Table without adjustment, with generational
improvement Scale MP-2014 applied from 2006

Retirement rates All participants are assumed to retire at the later of age 65 and attained age
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Other Post-Employment Benefits – Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Total OPEB liability
Service cost 174,528$ 247,342$ 370,624$ 407,835$ 306,682$ 255,435$ 260,346$
Interest on net OPEB liability and service cost 217,690 171,670 145,085 136,415 158,169 149,024 139,890
Differences between actual and expected experience (84,534) (67,987) (508,521) (132,232) 49,737 (71,160) 3,036
Changes of assumptions 77,438 (774,394) (702,926) (261,922) 966,809 28,267 32,158
Benefit payments, including refunds (102,657) (101,620) (89,624) (81,163) (87,887) (83,087) (128,500)

Net change in total OPEB liability 282,465 (524,989) (785,362) 68,933 1,393,510 278,479 306,930

Total OPEB liability - beginning 4,486,679 5,011,668 5,797,030 5,728,097 4,334,588 4,056,109 3,749,179

Total OPEB liability - ending 4,769,144$ 4,486,679$ 5,011,668$ 5,797,030$ 5,728,097$ 4,334,588$ 4,056,109$

OPEB fiduciary net position
Benefit payments, including refunds (102,657)$ (101,620)$ (89,624)$ (81,163)$ (87,887)$ (83,087)$ (128,500)$
Trust administrative expenses (10,030) (9,026) (8,811) 0 0 0 0
Contributions - employer 244,309 217,416 230,184 221,163 181,664 149,362 230,922
Contribution - Active employees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net investment income 203,380 (82,833) 48,932 156,735 18,822 9,168 64,572

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 335,002 23,937 180,681 296,735 112,599 75,443 166,994

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 1,279,534 1,255,597 1,074,916 778,181 665,582 590,139 423,145

Plan fiduciary net position - ending 1,614,536$ 1,279,534$ 1,255,597$ 1,074,916$ 778,181$ 665,582$ 590,139$

Plan's net OPEB liability - ending 3,154,608$ 3,207,145$ 3,756,071$ 4,722,114$ 4,949,916$ 3,669,005$ 3,465,970$

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 33.85% 28.52% 25.05% 18.54% 13.59% 15.36% 14.55%
of total OPEB liability

Covered-employee payroll 2,951,222$ 2,855,927$ 2,712,641$ 2,744,000$ 2,663,763$ 2,592,000$ 2,516,888$

Net OPEB Liability as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll 106.89% 112.30% 138.47% 172.09% 185.82% 141.55% 137.71%

*This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend
is compiled, OPEB plans should present information for those years for which information is available.
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Other Post-Employment Benefits – Schedule of Investment Returns

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Annual money-weighted rate of return,
net of investment expense 15.12% -6.33% 4.29% 18.48% 2.64% 1.47% 13.61%

*This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend
is compiled, OPEB plans should present information for those years for which information is available.
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Other Post-Employment Benefits – Schedule of OPEB Related Notes

Actuarial Methods:
Measurement Date: March 1, 2023 for OPEB expense and February 29, 2024 for Net OPEB Liability

Actuarial Cost Method: Costs have been computed in accordance with the Entry Age Actuarial Cost
Method. The service cost is the sume of the service costs for all participants
For a current participant, the individual service cost is (a) the present value of
future benefits as of the participant's entry age divided by (b) the present value
of future compensation as of the partcipant's entry age multiplied by (c) current
compensation. For other than a current active participant, the service cost equal $0.

The accrued liability is the sum of the individual accrued liabilities for all
participants. The individual accrued liability is equal to (d) the present value of
future benefits less (e) the service cost accrual rate multiplies by (f) the present
value of future compensation.

Asset-Valuation Method: For purposes of determining the unfunded actuarial liability, the actuarial value of
assets is equal to the fair market value.

Census Information: Census data as of March 1, 2023 and premium information as of March 1, 2023
were used to calculate the OPEB Expense. Census data and premium information
as of March 1, 2023 were used to calculate the Total OPEB Liability as of March 1, 2023

Actuarial Assumptions:
Discount rate: 4.70% for February 29, 2024

4.77% for February 28, 2023
3.33% for February 28, 2022

Investment Rate of Return: 6.75%

Salary Scale: 3.00%

Healthy Mortality: PubG.H-2010 Employee and Healthy Annuitant with Scale MP-2021
generational improvements (Male/Female)

Disabled Mortality: PubG.H-2010 Disabled Annuitant with Scale MP-2021 generational improvements
(Male/Female)

Health Care Cost Trend Rates:
Medical Costs: Starting at 6.5% grading down using the Getzen model to an ultmate rate of 4.00%

Participation: 100% of eligible future retirees are assumed to elect medical coverage under Plan

Marital Status: 80% of future retirees are assumed to be married and elect family medical
coverage. Female spouses are assumed to be 3 years younger than males.

Retirement Rates: Ranging from 5% at age 55 to 100% at age 70

Aging Assumption: Dental claims costs are assumed to increase by 3.00% per year of age up to age 70
Medical claim costs are assumed to increase range from:
from 3.0% at <70 to 0.0% at 90+
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Other Post-Employment Benefits - Schedule of Contributions
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Actuarial determined contribution 386,045$ 455,474$ 597,742$ 642,128$ 511,960$ 449,833$ 448,047$
Contributions in relation to the

actuarially determined contribution 244,309 217,416 230,184 149,362 230,922 149,362 230,922

Contribution deficiency (excess) 141,736$ 238,058$ 367,558$ 492,766$ 281,038$ 300,471$ 217,125$

Covered-employee payroll 2,951,222$ 2,855,927$ 2,712,641$ 2,592,000$ 2,516,888$ 2,592,000$ 2,516,888$

Contributions as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll 8.28% 7.61% 8.49% 5.76% 9.17% 5.76% 9.17%

Actuarial Fiduciary Total OPEB Net OPEB NOL as a %
Valuation Net Liability Liability Funded Covered of Covered

Date Position (TOL) (NOL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
2/28/2018 590,139 4,056,109 3,465,970 14.55% 2,516,888 137.71%
2/28/2019 665,582 4,334,588 3,669,006 15.36% 2,592,000 141.55%
2/29/2020 778,181 5,728,097 4,949,916 13.59% 2,663,763 185.82%
2/28/2021 1,074,916 5,797,030 4,722,114 18.54% 2,744,000 172.09%
2/28/2022 1,255,597 5,011,668 3,756,071 25.05% 2,712,641 138.47%
2/28/2023 1,279,534 4,486,679 3,207,145 28.52% 2,855,927 112.30%
2/29/2024 1,614,536 4,769,144 3,154,608 33.85% 2,951,222 106.89%

*This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend
is compiled, OPEB plans should present information for those years for which information is available.
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BRISTOL COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY

Other Information

Receipts, Disbursements and Transfers for Funds Held by BCWA and Trustees

Year Ended February 29, 2024

See Independent Auditor’s Report
63

Other Information (Unaudited)

Receipts, Disbursements, and Transfers for Funds Held by Trustee

Operations
Debt Service Debt and Operations

Project Reserve Service Maintenance and Revenue
Funds Funds Fund Reserve Fund Maintenance Funds Total

Balance per bank at February 28, 2023 6,504,029$ 4,282,373$ 1,278,075$ 1,750,000$ 921,001$ 24,141,601$ 38,877,079$

Receipts:
Collections from operations 0 0 0 0 0 16,990,000 16,990,000
Interest income 253,722 202,265 58,361 81,465 30,748 1,214,565 1,841,126
State and other grants/loan proceeds 0 - 0 0 0 0 -

Transfers:
To (from) operating cash accounts 0 (52,436) 0 0 1,079,008 (11,294,009) (10,267,437)
(To) from other funds 0 0 4,921,639 (81,465) (30,748) (4,809,427) (1)
Interest income tranferred 0 0 0 0 - 0 -

Disbursements:
Project expenditures (3,421,747) 0 0 0 0 0 (3,421,747)
Payment on principal and accrued interest

on Authority's notes 0 0 (4,901,202) 0 0 0 (4,901,202)
Payment of cost of issuance 0 0 0 0 -
Payment of Bond Rate Lock/Fees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balance per bank at February 29, 2024 3,336,004$ 4,432,202$ 1,356,873$ 1,750,000$ 2,000,009$ 26,242,730$ 39,117,818$

Change in Accrued Interest 0

Total funds held by trustee at
February 29, 2024 39,117,818$

BCWA Funds Trustee Funds
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BRISTOL COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY

Other Information

Non-Capitalized Fees Paid to Consultants

Year Ended February 29, 2024

See Independent Auditors’ Report
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Non-Capitalized Fees Paid to Consultants

Current operations

Legal 104,274$
Engineering 11,410
Auditing 22,000
Accounting, financial, and computer consulting 41,195

Total 178,879$
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BRISTOL COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY

Other Information

Debt Service Funds Requirement Calculation (Section 603 - General Bond Resolution)

Year Ended February 28, 2023

See Independent Auditors’ Report

65

Debt Service Requirement Calculation

Revenue fund balance per bank at March 1, 2023 24,141,601$

Revenue collected from operations 16,990,000
Transfer to operating cash accounts for operations

and maintenance expenses (11,294,009)
Operating cash used for capital projects 966,096

Interest income:
Revenue fund 1,214,565
Operations and maintenance reserve fund 81,465
Debt service reserve funds 202,265
Debt service fund 58,361
Project fund 253,722
Operations and maintenance interest only 30,748

Total interest income 1,841,126

Net revenue available for debt service requirement 32,644,814$

Debt service requirement 4,901,202$

Computed ratio 6.66

Required ratio 1.25

In accordance with Section 603 of the General Bond Resolution, the ratio of the
net revenue available for debt service requirements must be equal to or greater than
1.25. The computed ratio for the year ended February 29, 2024 is 6.66
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Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of

Financial Statement Performed in Accordance with Government
Auditing Standards

To the Board of Directors of the
Bristol County Water Authority
Warren, Rhode Island

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type
activities and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Bristol County Water Authority (the
Authority), as of and for the year ended February 29, 2024, and the related notes to the financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated June 21, 2024.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority's internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control. Accordingly, we
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with
governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses
may exist that have not been identified.
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority's financial statements are free of
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported
under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Hague, Sahady & Co.,CPAs, P.C.

Hague, Sahady & Co., CPAs,P.C.
Fall River, Massachusetts
June 21, 2024
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TOWN CLERK’S OFFICE 

Melissa Cordeiro, Town Clerk 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 

Date:  August 8, 2024 

 

From: Melissa Cordeiro 

 COUNCIL CLERK 

RE:  Documentation of Bid Rejection - Bid Number 1051 re   

from Global Equipment Company   

____________________________________________________________ 

 

 

This memo serves as documentation regarding the bid received 

on August 1, 2024, for Bid Number 10551 re Storage Carts for 

Election Equipment with the bid closing date noted as July 

31, 2024, at noon. Notably, the bid was received On August 

1, 2024, at 12:23 pm after both the bid opening and closing 

dates. 

We appreciate your interest in our project and your effort 

in preparing and submitting a bid. However, in order to 

maintain a fair and transparent bidding process, we must 

adhere strictly to the specified deadlines 

Regrettably, due to the untimely receipt of the bid, as 

outlined and stipulated in the submission guidelines, it is 

officially rejected. This memo is filed for reference and 

documentation purposes.     

10 Court Street 

Bristol, RI 02809 

Tel. 401-253-7000 
Fax. 401-253-2647 

Email: Mcordeiro@bristolri.gov 
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RHODE ISLAND GOVERNMENT REGISTER 

PUBLIC NOTICE OF PROPOSED RULEMAKING 

COASTAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT COUNCIL 

Title of Rule: Management Procedures (650-RICR-10-00-1) 

Rule Identifier: 650-RICR-10-00-1 

Rulemaking Action: Proposed Amendment 

Important Dates: 

Date of Public Notice: August 15, 2024 

Hearing Date: August 27, 2024 

End of Public Comment: September 15, 2024 

 
Rulemaking Authority: 

R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 46-23 et seq. 

 
Summary of Rulemaking Action: 

The CRMC proposes to amend its Management Procedures at § 1.1.4.15 to 
reference the administrative penalty matrix guidance for violations of the Rhode 
Island Coastal Resources Management Program within the State of the Rhode 
Island. 

 
Additional Information and Public Comments: 

All interested parties are invited to request additional information or submit written or 
oral comments concerning the proposed amendment until September 15, 2024 by 
contacting the appropriate party at the address listed below: 

 
Bruce Lofgren 

Coastal Resources Management Council 

4808 Tower Hill Road 

Coastal Resource Management Council 

Wakefield, RI 02879 

blofgren@crmc.ri.gov 

 
Public Hearing: 

A public hearing, in accordance with R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-35-2.5, to consider the 
proposed amendment shall be held at which time and place all persons interested 
therein will be heard. This hearing is subject to R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 42-46, Open 
Meetings. 

 
Public Hearing Information: 

Date: August 27, 2024 

Time: 6:00 P.M. 

Location: Department of Administration 
Conference Room A 
One Capitol Hill 
Providence , RI, 02908 
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The place of the public hearing is accessible to individuals with disabilities. If 
communication assistance (readers/interpreters/captioners) is needed, or any other 
accommodation to ensure equal participation, please call 401-783-3370 or RI Relay 
711 at least three (3) business days prior to the meeting so arrangements can be 
made to provide such assistance at no cost to the person requesting. For questions 
regarding available parking, please contact the agency staffperson listed above. 

 
Regulatory Analysis Summary and Supporting Documentation: 

R.I. Gen. Laws § 46-23-7.1 enables the Coastal Resource Management Council to 
administer and enforce administrative penalties. Also pursuant to the Red Book 
(650-RICR-20-00-1) CRMC Staff developed an Administrative Penalty matrix. The 
regulation change would allow the Executive Director or designee to consider the 
most recent revision of the Administrative Penalty Matrix guidance form in hearing 
cases that may result in administrative fines. This Administrative Penalty Matrix is 
proposed to be referenced in the Red Book Section RICR-20-00-1.1.13 and in the 
Management procedures 650-RICR-10-00-1.1.4.15. 

The intent of the matrix is to show the nexus between the CRMC’s enabling 
legislation on assessing penalties and the rationale and backup in determining 
actual fines. The matrix will allow further application of set standards that will 
increase the transparency and fairness in hearing these matters. 

 

 
For full regulatory analysis or supporting documentation contact the agency 
staffperson listed above. 
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RHODE ISLAND GOVERNMENT REGISTER 

PUBLIC NOTICE OF PROPOSED RULEMAKING 

COASTAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT COUNCIL 

Title of Rule: Red Book (650-RICR-20-00-1) 

Rule Identifier: 650-RICR-20-00-1 

Rulemaking Action: Proposed Amendment 

Important Dates: 

Date of Public Notice: August 15, 2024 

Hearing Date: August 27, 2024 

End of Public Comment: September 15, 2024 

 
Rulemaking Authority: 

R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 46-23 et seq. 

 
Summary of Rulemaking Action: 

The CRMC proposes to amend its Red Book at § 1.1.13 to include the 
administrative penalty matrix guidance for violations of the Rhode Island Coastal 
Resources Management Program within the state of the Rhode Island. 

 
Additional Information and Public Comments: 

All interested parties are invited to request additional information or submit written or 
oral comments concerning the proposed amendment until September 15, 2024 by 
contacting the appropriate party at the address listed below: 

 
Bruce Lofgren 

Coastal Resources Management Council 

4808 Tower Hill Road 

Coastal Resource Management Council 

Wakefield, RI 02879 

blofgren@crmc.ri.gov 

 
Public Hearing: 

A public hearing, in accordance with R.I. Gen. Laws § 42-35-2.5, to consider the 
proposed amendment shall be held at which time and place all persons interested 
therein will be heard. This hearing is subject to R.I. Gen. Laws Chapter 42-46, Open 
Meetings. 

 
Public Hearing Information: 

Date: August 27, 2024 

Time: 6:00 P.M. 

Location: Department of Administration 
Conference Room A 
One Capitol Hill 
Providence, RI, 02908 
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The place of the public hearing is accessible to individuals with disabilities. If 
communication assistance (readers/interpreters/captioners) is needed, or any other 
accommodation to ensure equal participation, please call 401-783-3370 or RI Relay 
711 at least three (3) business days prior to the meeting so arrangements can be 
made to provide such assistance at no cost to the person requesting. For questions 
regarding available parking, please contact the agency staffperson listed above. 

 
Regulatory Analysis Summary and Supporting Documentation: 

R.I. Gen. Laws § 46-23-7.1 enables the Coastal Resource Management Council to 
administer and enforce administrative penalties. Also pursuant to the Red Book 
(650-RICR-20-00-1) CRMC Staff developed an Administrative Penalty matrix. The 
regulation change would allow the Executive Director or designee to consider the 
most recent revision of the Administrative Penalty Matrix form when hearing cases 
that may result in administrative fines. Reference to the Administrative Penalty 
Matrix is also proposed in 650-RICR-10-00-1.4.15: Administrative Penalty Matrix of 
the CRMC Management Procedures. 

 

The intent of the matrix is to show the nexus between the CRMC’s enabling 
legislation on assessing penalties and the rationale and backup in determining 
actual fines. The matrix will allow further application of set standards that will 
increase the transparency and fairness in hearing these matters. 

 

 
For full regulatory analysis or supporting documentation contact the agency 
staffperson listed above. 
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